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Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities
Act.  Yes o No þ

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the
Act.  Yes o    No þ

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant
was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.   Yes
þ   No o

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (§ 229.405) is not
contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of Registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information
statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.  o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer,
or a smaller reporting company.  See definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).  Yes
o   No þ

As of February 29, 2008, the aggregate market value of the Registrant's Common Stock held by non-affiliates of the
Registrant was approximately $124.1 million, which was based upon the closing price of $7.72 per share as reported
by the New York Stock Exchange.

As of November 3, 2008, the Registrant had 16,879,498 shares of Common Stock outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Parts of the Registrant's Definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which is scheduled to be
held on January 16, 2009, are incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K.

Edgar Filing: FRANKLIN COVEY CO - Form 10-K

3



TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I
Item
1. Business

Item
1A. Risk Factors

Item
1B. Unresolved Staff Comments 

Item
2. Properties 

Item
3. Legal Proceedings 

Item
4.

Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security
Holders

PART II

Item
5. 

Market For the Registrant's Common Equity,
Related Shareholder Matters, and Issuer
Purchases of Equity Securities 

Item
6. Selected Financial Data 

Item
7.

Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of
Operations 

Item
7A.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures
About Market Risk 

Item
8. 

Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data 

Item
9. 

Changes In and Disagreements
With Accountants on Accounting and
Financial Disclosure

Item
9A. Controls and Procedures                             

Item
9B. Other Information

PART III 
Item
10. 

Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate
Governance

Item
11. Executive Compensation 

Item
12. 

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters 

Item
13. 

Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions, and Director Independence

Item
14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services 

PART IV 

Edgar Filing: FRANKLIN COVEY CO - Form 10-K

4



Item
15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 

SIGNATURES

Edgar Filing: FRANKLIN COVEY CO - Form 10-K

5



PART I

ITEM 1.    Business

General

Franklin Covey Co. (the Company, we, us, our or FranklinCovey) has enabled greatness in people and organizations
and is a worldwide leader in helping organizations, families, and individuals achieve their own great purposes through
teaching the principles and practices of effectiveness and by providing reinforcement tools like the FranklinCovey
Planning SystemTM.  Over 600 FranklinCovey associates world-wide delivered timeless and universal curriculum
and effectiveness tools to millions of customers in fiscal 2008.  We strive to excel in our efforts to enable greatness
because we believe that:

■ People are inherently capable,
aspire to greatness, and have
the power to choose.

■ Principles are timeless and
universal and are the
foundation to lasting
effectiveness.

■Leadership is a choice, built
inside-out on a foundation of
character.  Great leaders
unleash the collective talent
and passion of people toward
the right goal.

■Habits of effectiveness come
only from the committed use
of integrated processes and
tools.

■ Sustained superior
performance requires a balance
of performance and
performance capability (P/PC
BalanceÒ) - a focus on
achieving results and building
capability.

Our business has historically been comprised of the Consumer Solutions Business Unit (CSBU) and the
Organizational Solutions Business Unit (OSBU).  The CSBU was primarily focused on sales to individual customers
and small business organizations and included the results of our domestic retail stores, consumer direct operations
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(primarily Internet sales and call center), wholesale operations, international product channels in certain countries, and
other related distribution channels, including government product sales and domestic printing and publishing
sales.  Although CSBU sales primarily consisted of products such as planners, binders, software, totes, and related
accessories, virtually any component of our leadership, productivity, and strategy execution solutions may have been
purchased through the CSBU channels.

The OSBU is primarily responsible for the development, marketing, sale, and delivery of strategic execution,
productivity, leadership, sales force performance, and communication training and consulting solutions directly to
organizational clients, including other companies, the government, and educational institutions.  The OSBU includes
the financial results of our domestic sales force, public programs, and certain international operations.  The domestic
sales force is responsible for the sale and delivery of our training and consulting services in the United States.  Our
international sales group includes the financial results of our directly owned foreign offices and royalty revenues from
licensees.

Over the past several years, the strategic focus of our CSBU, which was focused primarily on the sales of our
products, and our OSBU, which was focused on the development and delivery of training, consulting, and related
services, has changed significantly.  As a consequence of these changes in strategic direction, we determined that the
extent of overlap between our training and consulting offerings and our products has diminished.  After significant
analysis and deliberation, we decided that these business units would be able to operate more effectively as separate
companies, each with clear and distinct objectives, market definitions, and competitive products and services.  This
conclusion persuaded us to sell substantially all of the operations of CSBU in fiscal 2008.

1
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During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, we completed the sale of substantially all of the assets of our CSBU to a
newly formed entity, Franklin Covey Products, LLC (Refer to Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements in
Item 8 for further details).  Franklin Covey Products, which is controlled by Peterson Partners, purchased the CSBU
assets for $32.0 million in cash, subject to adjustments for working capital on the closing date of the sale, which was
effective July 6, 2008.  On the date of the sale closing, the Company invested approximately $1.8 million to purchase
a 19.5 percent voting interest in Franklin Covey Products, made a $1.0 million priority capital contribution with a 10
percent return, and will have the opportunity to earn contingent license fees if Franklin Covey Products achieves
specified performance objectives.  We recognized a gain of $9.1 million on the sale of the CSBU assets and we
deferred a portion of the gain equal to our investment in Franklin Covey Products.

Following the sale of CSBU, our business primarily consists of training, consulting, assessment services, and  related
products to help organizations achieve superior results by focusing on and executing on top priorities, building the
capability of knowledge works, and aligning business processes.

Late in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, we also initiated a restructuring plan that included the closing of two
domestic sales offices, our Canadian office, and our Sales Performance Group office.  Our Canadian sales associates
and Sales Performance Group personnel will be absorbed into our remaining five Domestic sales offices.  In
connection with these office closures, we have also decentralized certain sales support functions.  During the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2008 we expensed $2.1 million for anticipated severance costs necessary to complete the restructuring
plan, which is expected to be substantially completed in fiscal 2009.

Our fiscal year ends on August 31 of each year.  Unless otherwise noted, references to fiscal years apply to the 12
months ended August 31 of the specified year.

Our principal executive offices are located at 2200 West Parkway Boulevard, Salt Lake City, Utah 84119-2331 and
our telephone number is (801) 817-1776.

Industry Information

We are engaged in the performance skills segment of the training industry.  One of our competitive advantages in this
highly fragmented industry stems from our fully integrated training curricula, measurement methodologies and
implementation tools to help organizations and individuals measurably improve their effectiveness.  This advantage
allows us to deliver not only training to both corporations and individuals, but also to implement the training through
the use of powerful behavior changing tools with the capability to then measure the impact of the delivered training
and tools.

In fiscal 2008, we provided products and services to 97 of the Fortune 100 companies and more than 75 percent of the
Fortune 500 companies.  We also provide products and services to a number of U.S. and foreign governmental
agencies, including the U.S. Department of Defense, as well as numerous educational institutions.  We also provide
training curricula, measurement services and implementation tools internationally, either through directly operated
offices, or through independent licensed providers.  At August 31, 2008, we had directly owned offices in Australia,
Canada, Japan, and the United Kingdom.  We also had licensed operations in 99 countries and licensed rights in more
than 140 countries.

Training and Consulting Services

We offer a range of training programs designed to measurably improve the effectiveness of organizations, families,
and individuals.  Our offerings are oriented to address organizational, managerial, interpersonal, and personal
needs.  In addition, we believe that our learning process provides an engaging and behavior-changing experience,
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which frequently generates additional business.  During fiscal 2008, over one million individuals were trained through
our direct offices using the Company’s curricula in our single and multiple–day workshops and seminars.

Our training and consulting services are designed to inspire organizations, communities, and individuals to become
measurably more efficient and effective through our various leadership and

2
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productivity courses including:  The 7 Habits of Highly Effective PeopleÒ; Leadership: Great
Leaders—Great  Teams—Great Resultsä; The 4 Disciplines of ExecutionTM; FOCUS: Achieving Your Highest Priorities;
The 8 Habits of a Successful Marriage; Building Business Acumen; Championing Diversity; Leading at the Speed of
Trust; Writing Advantage, and Presentation Advantage.  The Company is also in the process of developing curriculum
based on the book The Leader in Me by Stephen R Covey, which is aimed at helping principals and teachers
implement The 7 Habits of Effective People in their schools.  Curriculum and tools are also being developed to assist
companies to increase customer loyalty.

Our most popular courses are based on the material presented in The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People® and
includes our three-day 7 Habits of Highly Effective People Signature Program.   We offer several other variations of
this course including The 7 Habits for Managers:  Managing Yourself, Leading Others, Unleashing Potential, The 7
Habits of Highly Effective People, Introductory Course for Associates, and other courses targeted for families, teens,
and college students.   In addition to the principles taught in the best-selling book, these courses contain various
teaching aids including several award-winning videos which demonstrate the principles being taught.  During fiscal
2008 we released a web-based interactive version of this course, making the principles and content taught in our
course accessible to individuals and organizations world-wide without the expense of a facilitator, training room, and
the opportunity cost of taking individuals out of the workforce for multiple days.

Our training and consulting offerings include the following.

The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People is one of our best-known offerings and is designed to help organizations and
individuals achieve sustained superior results by focusing on making individuals and leaders more
effective.  Participants gain hands-on experience applying timeless principles that yield greater productivity, improved
communication, strengthened relationships, increased influence, and focus on critical priorities.  This offering is the
basis for some of our other courses and includes over 30 award winning video segments.

Leadership: Great Leaders—Great  Teams—Great Resultsä is built on the foundation that people are capable of greatness,
that they can make dramatic contributions and that they offer their best when they live by the four imperatives of great
leaders, which are 1) that they inspire trust, 2) that they clarify purpose, 3) that they insure systems are aligned, and 4)
that they unleash talent.

The 4 Disciplines of Executionä course teaches that execution succeeds or fails on the basis of four critical disciplines,
which include 1) focus on the most important goals, 2) acting on the key measures that influence outcome, 3) track the
progress on a compelling scoreboard which makes progress visible, and 4) holding individuals accountable.   Our
Execution products help organizations adopt and implement an operating system for achieving their most pressing
objectives measurably and predictably.

Our productivity course FOCUS: Achieving Your Highest Priorities focuses on helping individuals understand their
personal values so they can accomplish their most important tasks, both personally and professionally.  Our training is
based on a productivity pyramid that helps individuals identify their values, set achievable goals, and then build a
system of weekly and daily planning, which helps individuals achieve their highest priorities.

We offer a series of pre- and post-assessment surveys and assessments to measure and track key principles and actions
taught in our course that directly relate to individual and organizational effectiveness.  These products include xQä,
(Execution QuotientÔ), LQÔ (Leadership Quotient), tQÔ (Trust Quotient), and the 7 Habits Profile.  These surveys,
which are administered through a Web-based system, search for details to uncover underlying focus and teamwork
barriers or issues.
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We also provide The 7 Habits of Highly Effective Teensä as a workshop or as a year-long curriculum to schools and
school districts and other organizations working with youth.  Based on The 7 Habits of Highly Effective Teens book,
it helps to teach students and teachers studying skills, learning habits, and interpersonal development.  We are
currently developing a new curriculum entitled The Leader in Meä, which will help elementary
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schools incorporate The 7 Habits principles into their lessons to help students develop the life skills they need to be
successful.

In addition to providing consultants and presenters, we train and certify client facilitators to teach our workshops
within their organizations.  We believe client–facilitated training is important to our fundamental strategy of creating
pervasive on-going client relationships, which results in perpetual revenue streams.  After having been certified by
attending one of our certification workshops and completing certain requirements, client facilitators can purchase
manuals, profiles, planners and other products to conduct training workshops within their organization without
incurring the costs of one of our presenters, which makes it more cost-effective to distribute our curriculum within all
departments of their organization.  Since 1988, we have trained approximately 25,000 client facilitators.

Software

During fiscal 2008, we launched a new web-based interactive version  of  The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People®
course which was developed through a partnership with Personnel Decisions International (formerly 9th House), a
leading firm which uses technology to create engaging learning experiences.  During the three-hour online instruction,
participants engage in interactive exercises that illustrate how to use The 7 Habits® in real work
situations.  Participants then get to test their new skills in a state-of-the-art virtual simulation that shows the real-world
triumphs and challenges associated with the choices they have made.  Participants can also join a live one-day
application workshop to dive deeper in the content and practice what they have learned.

The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People® course is also available on a CD-ROM version.  This edition delivers the
content from the 3-day classroom workshop in a flexible self-paced version via the Internet or CD-ROM and is
available when and where employees need it.  The online edition is presented in a multi-media format with video
segments, voiceovers, a learning journal, interactive exercises, and other techniques.  Included with the course is a
360-Degree profile and e-Coaching to help participants gain a broader perspective of their strengths and weaknesses
and to help them implement the training to improve their skills.

Books and Audio

The principles we teach in our curriculum have also been published in book, audiotape and CD formats, and can be
downloaded from various Internet sites.  Books to which the Company holds copyrights include The 7 Habits of
Highly Effective People®, Principle–Centered Leadership, First Things First, The 7 Habits of Highly Effective
Families, Nature of Leadership, Living the 7 Habits, The 8th Habit: From Effectiveness to Greatness, Everyday
Greatness, The Leader in Me, all by Stephen R. Covey; The 10 Natural Laws of Time and Life Management, What
Matters Most and The Modern Gladiator by Hyrum W. Smith; The Power Principle by Blaine Lee; The 7 Habits of
Highly Effective Teens, The 6 Most Important Decisions You’ll Ever Make, and The 7 Habits of Happy Kids by Sean
Covey; and Business Think by Dave Marcum and Steve Smith.  These books, as well as audiotape and CD audio
versions of many of these products, and the products mentioned above are sold through general retail channels, audio
book websites, as well as through our own Internet site at www.franklincovey.com.

Segment Information

Prior to the sale of CSBU in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, our business was organized in two segments: (1) the
CSBU, which was designed to sell products to individual consumers and small businesses; and (2) the OSBU, which
is designed to serve organizational clients.  The following table sets forth, for the fiscal periods indicated, the
Company’s sales from external customers for each of these operating segments (in thousands):
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YEAR ENDED
AUGUST 31, 2008

Percent
change
from

prior year 2007

Percent
change
from

prior year 2006
Organizational
Solutions Business
Unit:
Domestic $ 91,287 (2) $ 93,308 10 $ 84,904
International 59,100 2 57,674 18 48,984

150,387 - 150,982 13 133,888

Consumer Solutions
Business Unit:
Retail stores 42,167 (22) 54,316 (13) 62,156
Consumer direct 38,662 (19) 48,018 (8) 52,171
Wholesale 16,970 (6) 17,991 1 17,782
CSBU International 7,295 (1) 7,342 (5) 7,716
Other CSBU 4,611 (16) 5,476 12 4,910

109,705 (18) 133,143 (8) 144,735
Total net sales $ 260,092 (8) $ 284,125 2 $ 278,623

Additional financial information related to our operating segments, as well as geographical information can be found
in the notes to our consolidated financial statements (Note 19).

Organizational Solutions Business Unit

The following is a more detailed description of our OSBU and its primary operations, which consist of domestic and
international operations.

Domestic Operations

In general, we sell effectiveness and productivity solutions to our customers through our own direct sales force.  We
then deliver training services to organizations, schools and individuals in one of five ways:

1. Our consultants provide on-site coaching, consulting or
training classes.  In these situations, our consultants tailor the
curriculum to our client’s specific business and objectives.

2. Our programs are also designed to be facilitated by licensed
professional trainers and managers in client organizations,
reducing dependence on our professional presenters, and
creating knowledgeable advocates of our curriculum in
organizations.

3. Our consultants provide training to individuals or small
groups of individuals through executive coaching sessions.  In
these sessions, our consultants are able to deliver course
content in greater detail and can help adapt our course
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principles to the specific needs of the organization.

4. We conduct public seminars in more than 100 cities
throughout the United States, where organizations can send
their employees in smaller numbers.  These public seminars
are also marketed directly to individuals through our Internet
web-site and by direct mail.

5. We also offer The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People®
training course in online and CD-ROM formats.  These
products provide the flexibility required by many
organizations.

Our domestic training operations are organized in geographic regional sales teams in order to assure that both the
consultant and the client sales professional participate in the development of new business and the assessment of client
needs.  Consultants are entrusted with the actual delivery of content, seminars, processes and other solutions and are
required to follow up with client service teams to develop lasting client impact and ongoing business opportunities.

We employ over 150 sales professionals and business developers.  Our sales professionals have selling experience
prior to employment by the Company and are trained and evaluated in their respective sales territories.  Sales
professionals typically call upon persons responsible for corporate employee training, such as corporate training
directors or human resource officers.  Increasingly, sales professionals are calling upon our clients’ executive
leadership or line leaders as they educate our clients on the value of our solutions.  Our sales professionals work
closely with training consultants in their territories to schedule and tailor seminars and workshops to meet the specific
objectives of our institutional clients.  We currently employ over 150 training consultants

5
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worldwide.  Our training consultants are selected from a large number of experienced applicants.  These consultants
generally have several years of training and/or consulting experience and are known for their excellent presentation
skills.  Once selected, the training consultant goes through a rigorous training program including multiple live
presentations.  The training program ultimately results in the Company's certification of the consultant.

International Operations

We deliver training services and products internationally through Company-owned and licensed operations.  We have
wholly-owned operations and offices in Australia, Canada, Japan, and the United Kingdom.  We also have licensed
operations in Argentina, Angola, Austria, Bahrain, Bangladesh, Belgium, Bermuda, Bolivia, Botswana, Brazil,
Bulgaria, Chile, China, Colombia, Costa Rica, Croatia, Czech Republic, Cyprus, Denmark, Dominican Republic,
Ecuador, Egypt, El Salvador, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Guatemala, Hong Kong, Hungary, India,
Iceland, Indonesia, Israel, Italy, Jordon, Kenya, Kuwait, Latvia, Lebanon, Lesotho, Lithuania, Luxembourg,
Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Mozambique,  Namibia, Nepal, Netherlands, Nicaragua, Nigeria, Norway,
Oman, Panama, Paraguay, Peru, Philippines, Poland, Portugal, Puerto Rico, Romania, Russia, Qatar, Saudi Arabia,
Serbia, Singapore, Slovak Republic, Slovenia, South Africa, South Korea, Spain, Sri Lanka, Swaziland, Sweden,
Switzerland, Tanzania, Taiwan, Thailand, Trinidad/Tobago, Turkey, UAE, Ukraine, Uruguay, Venezuela, Vietnam,
and Zambia.  There are also licensee retail operations in Hong Kong and South Korea.  Our nine most popular books,
The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People, Principle–Centered Leadership, The 10 Natural Laws of Time and Life
Management, First Things First, The Power Principle, The 7 Habits of Highly Effective Families, The 7 Habits of
Highly Effective Teen, The 8th Habit: From Effectiveness to Greatness, and The Six Most Important Decisions You’ll
Ever Makes are currently published in multiple languages.   Financial information about our foreign operations is
contained in Note 19 to our consolidated financial statements.

Clients

We have a relatively broad base of organizational and individual clients.  We have more than 6,000 organizational
clients consisting of corporations, governmental agencies, educational institutions, and other organizations.  We
believe that our products, workshops, and seminars encourage strong client loyalty.  Employees in each of our
domestic and international distribution channels focus on providing timely and courteous responses to client requests
and inquiries.  Due to the nature of our business, the Company does not have, nor has it had, a significant backlog of
firm orders.

Competition

Competition in the performance skills organizational training and education industry is highly fragmented with few
large competitors.  We estimate that the industry represents more than $7 billion in annual revenues and that the
largest traditional organizational training firms have sales in the $100 million to $400 million range.  Based upon our
fiscal 2008 OSBU sales of $150.4 million, we believe we are a leading competitor in the organizational training and
education market.  Other significant competitors in the training market are Development Dimensions International,
Institute for International Research (IIR), Organizational Dynamics Inc., American Management Association, Wilson
Learning, Forum Corporation, EPS Solutions and the Center for Creative Leadership.

Given the relative ease of entry in our training market, the number of competitors could increase, many of whom may
imitate existing methods of distribution, or could offer similar products and seminars at lower prices.  Some of these
companies may have greater financial and other resources than us.  We believe that our products compete primarily on
the basis of quality, proven results, content, client loyalty, price, and client service.  We also believe our curriculum
based upon best-selling books, which encompasses relevant high-quality video segments, has become a competitive
advantage.  This advantage is strengthened and enhanced by our ability to easily train individuals within organizations
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to become client facilitators who in turn can effectively relay our curriculum throughout their
organization.  Moreover, we believe that we are a market leader in the United
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States in productivity, leadership and execution products and services.  Increased competition from existing and future
competitors could, however, have a material adverse effect on our sales and profitability.

Manufacturing and Distribution

Following the sale of CSBU in fiscal 2008, we no longer manufacture a significant portion of our products.  We
purchase our training materials and related products from various vendors and suppliers located both domestically and
internationally and we are not dependent upon any one vendor for the production of our training and related materials
as the raw materials for these products are readily available.  We currently believe that we have good relationships
with our suppliers and contractors.

During fiscal 2001, we entered into a long-term contract with Electronic Data Systems (EDS) to provide warehousing
and distribution services for our training products and related accessories.  EDS maintains a facility at the Company’s
headquarters as well as at other locations throughout North America.

Research and Development

FranklinCovey believes that the development of new curricula and related products are important to maintaining its
competitive position.  Our products and services are conceived, designed, and developed through the collaboration of
our internal innovations group and external partner organizations.  We expense in the same year incurred part of the
costs to develop new curricula and products.  Curriculum costs are only capitalized when a course is developed that
will result in significant future benefits or when there is a major revision to a course or course materials.  Our research
and development expenditures totaled $4.6 million, $3.3 million, and $2.3 million in fiscal years 2008, 2007, and
2006 respectively.  Capitalized curriculum development costs are reported as a component of other long-term assets in
our consolidated balance sheets and totaled $6.8 million and $8.6 million at August 31, 2008 and 2007.  Amortization
of capitalized curriculum development costs is reported as a component of cost of sales.

Trademarks, Copyrights, and Intellectual Property

We seek to protect our intellectual property through a combination of trademarks, copyrights, and confidentiality
agreements.  We claim rights for 80 trademarks in the United States and have obtained registration in the United
States and many foreign countries for many of our trademarks, including FranklinCovey, The 7 Habits of Highly
Effective People, Principle–Centered Leadership, The 4 Disciplines of Execution, FranklinCovey Planner, PlanPlus,
The 7 Habits, and The 8th Habit.  We consider our trademarks and other proprietary rights to be important and
material to our business.  Each of the marks set forth in italics above is a registered mark or a mark for which
protection is claimed.

We own sole or joint copyrights on our planning systems, books, manuals, text and other printed information provided
in our training seminars, and other electronic media products, including audio tapes and video tapes.  We license,
rather than sell, facilitator workbooks and other seminar and training materials in order to protect our intellectual
property rights therein.  FranklinCovey places trademark and copyright notices on its instructional, marketing and
advertising materials.  In order to maintain the proprietary nature of our product information, we enter into written
confidentiality agreements with certain executives, product developers, sales professionals, training consultants, other
employees and licensees.  Although we believe the protective measures with respect to our proprietary rights are
important, there can be no assurance that such measures will provide significant protection from competitors.

Employees
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At August 31, 2008, FranklinCovey had over 600 full- and part-time associates located in the United States of
America, Japan, the United Kingdom, Canada, and Australia.  During fiscal 2001, we outsourced a significant part of
our information technology services, customer service, distribution and warehousing operations to EDS.  A number of
the Company’s former employees involved in these operations are now employed by EDS to provide those services to
FranklinCovey.  None of our associates are represented by a union or other collective bargaining group.
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Management believes that its relations with its associates are good and we do not currently foresee a shortage in
qualified personnel needed to operate our business.

Available Information

The Company’s principal executive offices are located at 2200 West Parkway Boulevard, Salt Lake City, Utah
84119-2331 and our telephone number is (801) 817-1776.

We regularly file reports with the Securities Exchange Commission (SEC).  These reports include, but are not limited
to, Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and security
transaction reports on Forms 3, 4, or 5.  The public may read and copy any materials that the Company files with the
SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room located at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549.  The public may obtain
information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.  The SEC also
maintains electronic versions of the Company’s reports, proxy and information statements, and other information that
the Company files with the SEC on its website at www.sec.gov.

The Company makes our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form
8-K, and other reports filed or furnished with the SEC available to the public, free of charge, through our website at
www.franklincovey.com.  These reports are provided through our website as soon as reasonable practicable after we
file or furnish these reports with the SEC.
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ITEM 1A.    RISK FACTORS

Our business environment, current domestic and international economic conditions, and other specific risks may affect
our future business decisions and financial performance.  The matters discussed below may cause our future results to
differ from past results or those described in forward-looking statements and could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, liquidity, results of operations, and stock price, and should be considered in
evaluating our company.

The following list of potential risks does not contain the only risks currently facing us.  Additional business risks and
uncertainties that are not presently known to us or that are not currently believed to be material may also harm our
business operations and financial results in future periods.

Our results of operations could be adversely affected by economic and political conditions and the effects of these
conditions on our clients’ businesses and their levels of business activity.

Global economic and political conditions affect our clients’ businesses and the markets in which they operate.  A
serious and/or prolonged economic downturn combined with a negative or uncertain political climate could adversely
affect our clients’ financial condition and the business activity of our clients.  These conditions may reduce the demand
for our services and solutions or depress the pricing of those services and have a material adverse impact on our
results of operations.  Changes in global economic conditions may also shift demand to services for which we do not
have competitive advantages, and this could negatively affect the amount of business that we are able to obtain.  Such
economic, political, and client spending conditions are influenced by a wide range of factors that are beyond our
control and that we have no comparative advantage in forecasting.  If we are unable to successfully anticipate these
changing conditions, we may be unable to effectively plan for and respond to those changes, and our business could
be adversely affected.

Our business success also depends in part upon continued growth in the use of training and consulting services in
business by our current and prospective clients.  In challenging economic environments, our clients may reduce or
defer their spending on new services and consulting solutions in order to focus on other priorities.  At the same time,
many companies have already invested substantial resources in their current means of conducting their business and
they may be reluctant or slow to adopt new approaches that could disrupt existing personnel and/or processes.  If the
growth in the general use of training and consulting services in business or our clients’ spending on these items
declines, or if we cannot convince our clients or potential clients to embrace new services and solutions, our results of
operations could be adversely affected.

In addition, our business tends to lag behind economic cycles and, consequently, the benefits of an economic recovery
following a period of economic downturn may take longer for us to realize than other segments of the economy.

We operate in an intensely competitive industry and our competitors may develop courses that adversely affect our
ability to sell our offerings.

The training and consulting services industry is intensely competitive with relatively easy entry.  Competitors
continually introduce new programs and services that may compete directly with our offerings or that may make our
offerings uncompetitive or obsolete.  Larger and better capitalized competitors may have superior abilities to compete
for clients and skilled professionals, reducing our ability to deliver quality work to our clients.  In
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addition, one or more of our competitors may develop and implement training courses or methodologies that may
adversely affect our ability to sell our curricula and products to new clients.  Any one of these circumstances could
have a material adverse effect on our ability to obtain new business and successfully deliver our services and
solutions.

Our results of operations may be negatively affected if we cannot expand and develop our services and solutions in
response to client demand.

Our success depends upon our ability to develop and deliver services and consulting solutions that respond to rapid
and continuing changes in client needs.  We may not be successful in anticipating or responding to these
developments on a timely basis and our offerings may not be successful in the marketplace.  The implementation and
introduction of new programs and solutions may entail more risk than supplying existing offerings to our clients.  In
addition, the introduction of new or competing services or solutions by current or future competitors may render our
service or solution offerings obsolete.  Any one of these circumstances may have an adverse impact upon our business
and results of operations.

Our business could be adversely affected if our clients are not satisfied with our services.

The success of our business model significantly depends on our ability to attract new work from our base of existing
clients, as well as new work from prospective clients.  Our business model also depends on the relationships our
senior executives and sales personnel develop with our clients so that we can understand our clients’ needs and deliver
services and solutions that are specifically tailored to those needs.  If a client is not satisfied with the quality of work
performed by us, or with the type of services or solutions delivered, then we may incur additional costs to remediate
the situation, the profitability of that work might be decreased, and the client’s dissatisfaction with our services could
damage our ability to obtain additional work from that client.  In particular, clients that are not satisfied might seek to
terminate existing contracts prior to their scheduled expiration date and could direct future business to our
competitors.  In addition, negative publicity related to our client relationships, regardless of its accuracy, may further
damage our business by affecting our ability to compete for new contracts with current and prospective clients.

Our profitability could decrease if we are unable to control our costs.

Our future success and profitability depend in part on our ability to achieve the appropriate cost structure and improve
our efficiency in the highly competitive services industry in which we compete.  We regularly monitor our operating
costs and develop initiatives and business models that impact our operations and are designed to improve our
profitability.  Our recent initiatives have included redemptions of preferred stock, exiting non-core businesses, asset
sales, headcount reductions, and other internal initiatives designed to reduce our operating costs.  If we do not achieve
targeted business model cost levels and manage our costs and processes to achieve additional efficiencies, our
competitiveness and profitability could decrease.

Our work with governmental clients exposes us to additional risks that are inherent in the government contracting
process.

Our clients include national, provincial, state, and local governmental entities and our work with these governmental
entities has various risks inherent in the government contracting process.  These risks include, but are not limited to,
the following:
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•  Governmental entities typically fund projects through appropriated monies.  While these projects are often planned
and executed as multi-year projects, the government entities usually reserve the right to change the scope of or
terminate these projects for lack of approved funding and at their convenience. Changes in government or political
developments could result in changes in scope or in termination of our projects.

•  Government entities often reserve the right to audit our contract costs, including allocated indirect costs, and
conduct inquiries and investigations of our business practices with respect to our government contracts. If the
governmental entity finds that the costs are not reimbursable, then we will not be allowed to bill for those costs or
the cost must be refunded to the client if it has already been paid to us. Findings from an audit also may result in
our being required to prospectively adjust previously agreed rates for our work and may affect our future margins.

•  If a government client discovers improper activities in the course of audits or investigations, we may become
subject to various civil and criminal penalties and administrative sanctions, which may include termination of
contracts, forfeiture of profits, suspension of payments, fines and suspensions or debarment from doing business
with other agencies of that government.  The inherent limitations of internal controls may not prevent or detect all
improper or illegal activities, regardless of their adequacy.

•  Political and economic factors such as pending elections, revisions to governmental tax policies and reduced tax
revenues can affect the number and terms of new government contracts signed.

The occurrences or conditions described above could affect not only our business with the particular governmental
agency involved, but also our business with other agencies of the same or other governmental entities.  Additionally,
because of their visibility and political nature, government projects may present a heightened risk to our
reputation.  Any of these factors could have a material adverse effect on our business or our results of operations.

Our profitability will suffer if we are not able to maintain our pricing and utilization rates and control our costs.

Our profit margin on our services and solutions is largely a function of the rates we are able to recover for our services
and the utilization, or chargeability, of our trainers, client partners, and consultants.  Accordingly, if we are unable to
maintain sufficient pricing for our services or an appropriate utilization rate for our training professionals without
corresponding cost reductions, our profit margin and overall profitability will suffer.  The rates that we are able to
recover for our services are affected by a number of factors, including:

•  Our clients’ perceptions of our ability to add value through our programs and products
•  Competition

•  General economic conditions
•  Introduction of new programs or services by us or our competitors

•  Our ability to accurately estimate, attain, and sustain engagement sales, margins, and cash flows over longer
contract periods

Our utilization rates are also affected by a number of factors, including:
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•  Seasonal trends, primarily as a result of scheduled training
•  Our ability to forecast demand for our products and services and thereby maintain an appropriate headcount in our
employee base

•  Our ability to manage attrition

During recent periods we have maintained favorable utilization rates.  However, there can be no assurance that we will
be able to maintain favorable utilization rates in future periods.  Additionally, we may not achieve a utilization rate
that is optimal for us.  If our utilization rate is too high, it could have an adverse effect on employee engagement and
attrition.  If our utilization rate is too low, our profit margin and profitability could suffer.

If our pricing structures do not accurately anticipate the cost and complexity of performing our services, then our
contracts may become unprofitable.

We negotiate pricing terms with our clients utilizing a range of pricing structures and conditions. Depending on the
particular contract and service to be provided, these include time-and-materials pricing, fixed-price pricing, and
contracts with features of both of these pricing models.  Our pricing is highly dependent on our internal forecasts and
predictions about our projects and the marketplace, which might be based on limited data and could turn out to be
inaccurate.  If we do not accurately estimate the costs and time necessary to deliver our work, our contracts could
prove unprofitable for us or yield lower profit margins than anticipated.  There is a risk that we may under price our
contracts, fail to accurately estimate the costs of performing the work, or fail to accurately assess the risks associated
with potential contracts.  In particular, any increased or unexpected costs, delays or failures to achieve anticipated cost
savings, or unexpected risks we encounter in connection with the performance of our work, including those caused by
factors outside our control, could make these contracts less profitable or unprofitable, which could have an adverse
effect on our profit margin.

Our global operations pose complex management, foreign currency, legal, tax, and economic risks, which we may not
adequately address.

We have Company-owned offices in Australia, Canada, Japan, and the United Kingdom.  We also have licensed
operations in numerous other foreign countries.  As a result of these foreign operations and their growing impact upon
our results of operations, we are subject to a number of risks, including:

•  Restrictions on the movement of cash
•  Burdens of complying with a wide variety of national and local laws

•  The absence in some jurisdictions of effective laws to protect our intellectual property rights
•  Political instability

•  Currency exchange rate fluctuations
•  Longer payment cycles

•  Price controls or restrictions on exchange of foreign currencies

While we are not currently aware of any of the foregoing conditions materially adversely affecting our operations,
these conditions, which are outside of our control, could change at any time.
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We may experience foreign currency gains and losses.

Our sales outside of the United States totaled $62.9 million, or 24 percent of total sales, for the year ended August 31,
2008.  As our international operations continue to grow and become a larger component of our overall financial
results, our revenues and operating results may be adversely affected when the dollar strengthens relative to other
currencies and may be positively affected when the dollar weakens.  In order to manage a portion of our foreign
currency risk, we make limited use of foreign currency derivative contracts to hedge certain transactions and
translation exposure.  There can be no guarantee that our foreign currency risk management strategy will be effective
in reducing the risks associated with foreign currency transactions and translation.

Our global operations expose us to numerous and sometimes conflicting legal and regulatory requirements, and
violation of these regulations could harm our business.

Because we provide services to clients in many countries, we are subject to numerous, and sometimes conflicting,
legal regimes on matters as diverse as import/export controls, content requirements, trade restrictions, tariffs, taxation,
sanctions, government affairs, internal and disclosure control obligations, data privacy and labor relations.  Violations
of these regulations in the conduct of our business could result in fines, criminal sanctions against us or our officers,
prohibitions on doing business, and damage to our reputation.  Violations of these regulations in connection with the
performance of our obligations to our clients also could result in liability for monetary damages, fines and/or criminal
prosecution, unfavorable publicity, restrictions on our ability to process information and allegations by our clients that
we have not performed our contractual obligations.  Due to the varying degrees of development of the legal systems of
the countries in which we operate, local laws might be insufficient to protect our rights.

In many parts of the world, including countries in which we operate, practices in the local business community might
not conform to international business standards and could violate anticorruption regulations, including the U.S.
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, which prohibits giving anything of value intended to influence the awarding of
government contracts.  Although we have policies and procedures to ensure legal and regulatory compliance, our
employees, licensee operators, and agents could take actions that violate these requirements.  Violations of these
regulations could subject us to criminal or civil enforcement actions, including fines and suspension or
disqualification from U.S. federal procurement contracting, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our
business.

Failure to comply with the terms and conditions of our credit facility may have an adverse effect upon our business
and operations.

Our line of credit facility requires us to be in compliance with customary non-financial terms and conditions as well as
specified financial ratios.  Failure to comply with these terms and conditions or maintain adequate financial
performance to comply with specific financial ratios entitles the lender to certain remedies, including the right to
immediately call due any amounts outstanding on the line of credit.  Such events would have an adverse effect upon
our business and operations as there can be no assurance that we may be able to obtain other forms of financing or
raise additional capital on terms that would be acceptable to us.
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Our strategy to focus on training and consulting services may not be successful and may not lead to the desired
financial results.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, we sold substantially all of the assets of our Consumer Solutions Business
Unit (CSBU) to a newly formed entity, Franklin Covey Products.  Although we believe the sale of the CSBU assets
will allow us to focus our resources and abilities on our services and solutions offerings, many of the aspects of this
plan, including future economic conditions and the business strength of our clients, are not within our control and we
may not achieve our expected financial results within our anticipated timeframe.

If we are unable to attract, retain, and motivate high-quality employees, including training consultants and other key
training representatives, we will not be able to compete effectively and will not be able to grow our business.

Our success and ability to grow are dependent, in part, on our ability to hire, retain and motivate sufficient numbers of
talented people with the increasingly diverse skills needed to serve our clients and grow our business.  Competition for
skilled personnel is intense at all levels of experience and seniority.  To address this competition, we may need to
further adjust our compensation practices, which could put upward pressure on our costs and adversely affect our
profit margins.  At the same time, the profitability of our business model is partially dependent on our ability to
effectively utilize personnel with the right mix of skills and experience to effectively deliver our programs and
content.  There is a risk that at certain points in time and in certain geographical regions, we will find it difficult to
hire and retain a sufficient number of employees with the skills or backgrounds we require, or that it will prove
difficult to retain them in a competitive labor market.  If we are unable to hire and retain talented employees with the
skills, and in the locations, we require, we might not be able to deliver our content and solutions services.  If we need
to re-assign personnel from other areas, it could increase our costs and adversely affect our profit margins.

In order to retain key personnel, we continue to offer a variable component of compensation, the payment of which is
dependent upon our sales performance and profitability.  We adjust our compensation levels and have adopted
different methods of compensation in order to attract and retain appropriate numbers of employees with the necessary
skills to serve our clients and grow our business.  We may also use equity-based performance incentives as a
component of our executives’ compensation, which may affect amounts of cash compensation.  Variations in any of
these areas of compensation may adversely impact our operating performance.

If we are unable to collect our accounts receivable on a timely basis, our results of operations and cash flows could be
adversely affected.

Our business depends on our ability to successfully obtain payment from our clients of the amounts they owe us for
services performed.  We evaluate the financial condition of our clients and usually bill and collect on relatively short
cycles.  We maintain allowances against our receivables and unbilled services that we believe are adequate to reserve
for potentially uncollectible amounts.  However, actual losses on client balances could differ from those that we
currently anticipate and as a result we might need to adjust our allowances and there is no guarantee that we will
accurately assess the creditworthiness of our clients.  Macroeconomic conditions could also result in financial
difficulties for our clients, and as a result could cause clients to delay payments to us, request modifications to their
payment arrangements that could increase our receivables balance, or not pay their obligations to us.  Timely
collection of client balances also depends on our ability to complete our contractual commitments and bill and collect
our invoiced revenues.  If we
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are unable to meet our contractual requirements, we might experience delays in collection of and/or be unable to
collect our client balances, and if this occurs, our results of operations and cash flows could be adversely affected.  In
addition, if we experience an increase in the time to bill and collect for our services, our cash flows could be adversely
affected.

We have only a limited ability to protect our intellectual property rights, which are important to our success.

Our financial success depends, in part, upon our ability to protect our proprietary methodologies and other intellectual
property.  The existing laws of some countries in which we provide services might offer only limited protection of our
intellectual property rights.  To protect our intellectual property, we rely upon a combination of trade secrets,
confidentiality policies, nondisclosure and other contractual arrangements, and patent, copyright and trademark laws
to protect our intellectual property rights.  The steps we take in this regard might not be adequate to prevent or deter
infringement or other misappropriation of our intellectual property, and we might not be able to detect unauthorized
use of, or take appropriate and timely steps to enforce, our intellectual property rights, especially in foreign
jurisdictions.

The loss of proprietary methodologies or the unauthorized use of our intellectual property may create greater
competition, loss of revenue, adverse publicity, and may limit our ability to reuse that intellectual property for other
clients.  Any limitation on our ability to provide a service or solution could cause us to lose revenue-generating
opportunities and require us to incur additional expenses to develop new or modified solutions for future
engagements.

Our strategy of outsourcing certain functions and operations may fail to reduce our costs for these services.

We have an outsourcing contract with Electronic Data Systems (EDS) to provide warehousing, distribution, and
information system operations.  Under the terms of the outsourcing contract and its addendums, EDS provides
warehousing and distribution services and supports our various information systems.  Due to the nature of our
outsourced operations, we are unable to exercise the same level of control over outsourced functions and the actions of
EDS employees in outsourced roles as our own employees.  As a result, the inherent risks associated with these
outsourced areas of operation may be increased.

Our outsourcing contracts with EDS also contain early termination provisions that we may exercise under certain
conditions.  However, in order to exercise the early termination provisions, we would have to pay specified penalties
to EDS depending upon the circumstances of the contract termination.

We have significant intangible asset balances that may be impaired if cash flows from related activities decline.

At August 31, 2008 we had $72.3 million of intangible assets, which were primarily generated from the fiscal 1997
merger with the Covey Leadership Center.  These intangible assets are evaluated for impairment based upon cash
flows (definite-lived intangible assets) and estimated royalties from revenue streams (indefinite-lived intangible
assets).  Although our current sales and cash flows are sufficient to support the carrying basis of these intangibles, if
our sales and corresponding cash flows decline, we may be faced with significant asset impairment charges that would
have an adverse impact upon our operating margin and overall results of operations.
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Our business could be negatively affected if we incur legal liability in connection with providing our solutions and
services.

If we fail to meet our contractual obligations, fail to disclose our financial or other arrangements with our business
partners or otherwise breach obligations to clients, we could be subject to legal liability.  We may enter into
non-standard agreements because we perceive an important economic opportunity or because our personnel did not
adequately adhere to our guidelines.  We may also find ourselves committed to providing services that we are unable
to deliver or whose delivery will cause us financial loss.  If we cannot, or do not perform our obligations, we could
face legal liability and our contracts might not always protect us adequately through limitations on the scope of our
potential liability.  If we cannot meet our contractual obligations to provide services and solutions, and if our exposure
is not adequately limited through the terms of our agreements, then we might face significant legal liability and our
business could be adversely affected.

We depend on key personnel, the loss of whom could harm our business.

Our future success will depend, in part, on the continued service of key executive officers and personnel.  The loss of
the services of any key individuals could harm our business.  Our future success also depends on our ability to
identify, attract, and retain additional qualified senior personnel.  Competition for such individuals in our industry is
intense and we may not be successful in attracting and retaining such personnel.

Our future quarterly operating results are subject to factors that can cause fluctuations in our stock price.

Historically, our stock price has experienced significant volatility.  We expect that our stock price may continue to
experience volatility in the future due to a variety of potential factors that may include the following:

•  Fluctuations in our quarterly results of operations and cash flows
•  Increased overall market volatility

•  Variations between our actual financial results and market expectations
•  Changes in our key balances, such as cash and cash equivalents

•  Currency exchange rate fluctuations
•  Unexpected asset impairment charges

•  Lack of analyst coverage

In addition, the stock market has recently experienced substantial price and volume fluctuations that have impacted
our stock and other equity issues in the market.  These factors, as well as general investor concerns regarding the
credibility of corporate financial statements, may have a material adverse effect upon our stock price in the future.

We may need additional capital in the future, and this capital may not be available to us on favorable terms.

We may need to raise additional funds through public or private debt offerings or equity financings in order to:
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•  Develop new services, programs, or offerings
•  Take advantage of opportunities, including expansion of the business

•  Respond to competitive pressures

Any additional capital raised through the sale of equity could dilute current shareholders’ ownership percentage in
us.  Furthermore, we may be unable to obtain the necessary capital on terms or conditions that are favorable to us, or
at all.

We are the creditor for a management common stock loan program that may not be fully collectible.

We are the creditor for a loan program that provided the capital to allow certain management personnel the
opportunity to purchase shares of our common stock.  For further information regarding our management common
stock loan program, refer to the notes to our consolidated financial statements as found in Item 8 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.  Our inability to collect all, or a portion, of these receivables could have an adverse impact
upon our financial position and future cash flows compared to full collection of the loans.

We may have exposure to additional tax liabilities.

As a multinational company, we are subject to income taxes as well as non-income based taxes, in both the United
States and various foreign tax jurisdictions.  Significant judgment is required in determining our worldwide provision
for income taxes and other tax liabilities.  In the normal course of a global business, there are many intercompany
transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain.  As a result, we are regularly under
audit by tax authorities.  Although we believe that our tax estimates are reasonable, we cannot assure you that the final
determination of tax audits will not be different from what is reflected in our historical income tax provisions and
accruals.

We are also subject to non-income taxes, such as payroll, sales, use, value-added, and property taxes in both the
United States and various foreign jurisdictions.  We are regularly under audit by tax authorities with respect to these
non-income taxes and may have exposure to additional non-income tax liabilities.

We could have liability or our reputation could be damaged if we do not protect client data or if our information
systems are breached.

We are dependent on information technology networks and systems to process, transmit and store electronic
information and to communicate among our locations around the world and with our clients. Security breaches of this
infrastructure could lead to shutdowns or disruptions of our systems and potential unauthorized disclosure of
confidential information.  We are also required at times to manage, utilize and store sensitive or confidential client or
employee data.  As a result, we are subject to numerous U.S. and foreign jurisdiction laws and regulations designed to
protect this information, such as the various U.S. federal and state laws governing the protection of health or other
individually identifiable information.  If any person, including any of our associates, negligently disregards or
intentionally breaches our established controls with respect to such data or otherwise mismanages or misappropriates
that data, we could be subject to monetary damages, fines and/or criminal prosecution.  Unauthorized disclosure of
sensitive or confidential client or employee data, whether through systems failure, employee negligence, fraud or
misappropriation, could damage our reputation and cause us to lose clients.
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International hostilities, terrorist activities, and natural disasters may prevent us from effectively serving our clients
and thus adversely affect our operating results.

Acts of terrorist violence, armed regional and international hostilities, and international responses to these hostilities,
natural disasters, global health risks or pandemics or the threat of or perceived potential for these events, could have a
negative impact on our directly owned or licensee operations.  These events could adversely affect our clients’ levels of
business activity and precipitate sudden significant changes in regional and global economic conditions and
cycles.  These events also pose significant risks to our people and to physical facilities and operations around the
world, whether the facilities are ours or those of our alliance partners or clients.  By disrupting communications and
travel and increasing the difficulty of obtaining and retaining highly skilled and qualified personnel, these events
could make it difficult or impossible for us or our licensee partners to deliver services to clients.  Extended disruptions
of electricity, other public utilities or network services at our facilities, as well as system failures at, or security
breaches in, our facilities or systems, could also adversely affect our ability to serve our clients.  While we plan and
prepare to defend against each of these occurrences, we might be unable to protect our people, facilities and systems
against all such occurrences.  We generally do not have insurance for losses and interruptions caused by terrorist
attacks, conflicts and wars.  If these disruptions prevent us from effectively serving our clients, our operating results
could be adversely affected.

A natural or man-made disaster in Salt Lake City, Utah could have an adverse effect on our business.

We manufacture and ship training materials at numerous sites located around the world.  However, a significant
portion of our training materials are manufactured and shipped from facilities located in Salt Lake City, Utah.  In the
event that these facilities were severely damaged or destroyed as a result of a natural or man-made disaster, we could
suffer significant disruptions to our ability to manufacture and ship training materials to our clients.  Such events may
have a material adverse effect on our business prospects, results of operations, and financial condition.

ITEM 1B.    UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEM 2.    Properties

Franklin Covey’s principal business operations and executive offices are located in Salt Lake City, Utah.  The
following is a summary of our owned and leased properties.  Our corporate headquarters lease is accounted for as a
financing arrangement and all other facility lease agreements are accounted for as operating leases.  Our lease
agreements expire at various dates through the year 2025.

Corporate Facilities
Corporate Headquarters and Administrative Offices:
Salt Lake City, Utah (7 buildings) – all leased

Organizational Solutions Business Unit
Regional Sales Offices:
United States (5 locations) – all leased

International Administrative/Sales Offices:
Canada (1 location) – owned
Asia Pacific (4 locations) – all leased
England (1 location) – leased

International Distribution Facilities:
Canada (1 location) – owned
Asia Pacific (3 locations) – all leased
England (1 location) – leased

We consider our existing facilities to be in good condition and suitable for our current and anticipated level of
operations in the upcoming fiscal year.

A significant portion of our corporate headquarters campus located in Salt Lake City, Utah is subleased to several
unrelated entities.

The following significant developments occurred during fiscal 2008 that affected our properties:

•  During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, we completed the sale of our Consumer Solutions Business Unit, which
operated retail stores both domestically and in certain international locations.

•  In connection with a restructuring plan initiated in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, we closed one domestic
regional sales office and intend to close our Canadian facility in fiscal 2009.

ITEM 3.    Legal Proceedings

In August 2005, EpicRealm Licensing (EpicRealm) filed an action in the United States District Court for the Eastern
District of Texas against the Company for patent infringement.  The action alleged that the Company infringed upon
two of EpicRealm’s patents directed to managing dynamic web page requests from clients to a web server that in turn
uses a page server to generate a dynamic web page from content retrieved from a data source.  The Company denied
liability in the patent infringement and filed counter-claims related to the case subsequent to the filing of the action in
District Court.  However, during the fiscal year
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ended August 31, 2008, the Company paid EpicRealm a one-time license fee of $1.0 million for a non-exclusive,
irrevocable, perpetual, and royalty-free license to use any product, system, or invention covered by the disputed
patents.  In connection with the purchase of the license, EpicRealm and the Company agreed to dismiss their claims
with prejudice and the Company is released from further action regarding these patents.

The Company is also the subject of certain other legal actions, which we consider routine to our business
activities.  At August 31, 2008, we believe that, after consultation with legal counsel, any potential liability to the
Company under such actions will not materially affect our financial position, liquidity, or results of operations.

ITEM 4.    Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of our fiscal year ended August 31,
2008.

PART II

ITEM 5.    Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

FranklinCovey’s common stock is listed and traded on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) under the symbol
“FC.”  The following table sets forth the high and low sale prices per share for our common stock, as reported on the
NYSE, for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008 and 2007.

High Low
Fiscal Year
Ended
August 31,
2008:
Fourth
Quarter $ 9.32 $ 7.35
Third
Quarter 8.76 6.72
Second
Quarter 8.00 6.86
First Quarter 7.75 5.91

Fiscal Year
Ended
August 31,
2007:
Fourth
Quarter $ 8.99 $ 6.97
Third
Quarter 9.01 7.10
Second
Quarter 8.15 5.66
First Quarter 6.18 4.96
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On November 3, 2008, our common stock closed at $5.25 per share.  Subsequent to our fiscal year end on August 31,
2008 the stock market in the United States experienced increased volatility and suffered significant losses primarily as
a result of the credit and liquidity crises.  Due to the serious and unpredictable nature of these factors affecting the
stock market, we are unable to determine what, if any, impact these external factors may have upon our stock price in
future periods.

We did not pay or declare dividends on our common stock during the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008 or
2007.  We currently anticipate that we will retain all available funds to
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repay our line of credit obligation, finance future growth and business opportunities, and to purchase shares of our
common stock.  We do not intend to pay cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future.

As of November 3, 2008, the Company had 16,879,498 shares of common stock outstanding, which were held by 392
shareholders of record.

Purchases of Common Stock

The following table summarizes Company purchases of common stock during the fiscal quarter ended August 31,
2008:

Period

Total
Number of
Shares

Purchased

Average
Price
Paid
Per
Share

Total
Number of
Shares

Purchased
as Part of
Publicly

Announced
Plans or
Programs

Maximum
Dollar
Value of
Shares

That May
Yet Be

Purchased
Under the
Plans or
Programs

(in
thousands)

June 1,
2008 to
    July 5,
2008 - $ - none $ 2,413

July 6,
2008 to  
    August
2, 2008 - - none 2,413

August 3,
2008 to
    August
31, 2008 3,027,027(1) 9.32 3,027,027 2,413(2)

Total
Common
    Shares 3,027,027 $ 9.32 3,027,027

(1)  During August 2008, we completed a modified “Dutch Auction” tender offer in which we were able to purchase
3,027,027 shares of our common stock for $9.25 per share plus costs necessary to conduct the tender offer.

(2)  In January 2006, our Board of Directors approved the purchase of up to $10.0 million of our outstanding common
stock.  All previous authorized common stock purchase plans were canceled.  Following the approval of this
common stock purchase plan, we have purchased a total of 1,009,300 shares of our common stock for $7.6
million through August 31, 2008 under the terms of this plan.

Performance Graph
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The following graph shows a comparison of cumulative total shareholder return indexed to August 31, 2003,
calculated on a dividend reinvested basis, for the five fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, for Franklin Covey Co.
common stock, the S&P SmallCap 600 Index, and the S&P Diversified Commercial Services Index.  The Company
was previously included in the S&P 600 SmallCap Index and was assigned to the S&P Diversified Commercial and
Professional Services Index within the S&P 600 SmallCap Index.  The Company believes that if it were included in an
index it would be included in the indices where it was previously listed.  The Diversified Commercial Services Index
consists of 7 companies similar in size and nature to Franklin Covey.  The Company is no longer a part of the S&P
600 SmallCap Index but believes that the S&P 600 SmallCap Index and the Diversified
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Commercial Services Index continues to provide appropriate benchmarks with which to compare our stock
performance.
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ITEM 6.    Selected Financial Data

The selected consolidated financial data presented below should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements of Franklin Covey and the related footnotes as found in Item 8 of this report on Form 10-K.  During fiscal
2008, we sold substantially all of the assets of our Consumer Solutions Business Unit (CSBU), which was primarily
responsible for the sale of our products to consumers.  Based upon applicable accounting guidance, the operations of
CSBU did not qualify for discontinued operations presentation and therefore no prior periods were adjusted to reflect
the sale of the CSBU assets.

August 31, 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
In thousands,
except per share
data

Income Statement
Data:
Net sales $ 260,092 $ 284,125 $ 278,623 $ 283,542 $ 275,434
Income (loss)
from operations 16,760 18,084 14,046 8,443 (9,064)
Net income (loss)
before income
taxes 13,834 15,665 13,631 9,101 (8,801)
Income tax benefit
(provision)(1) (7,986) (8,036) 14,942 1,085 (1,349)
Net income
(loss)(1) 5,848 7,629 28,573 10,186 (10,150)
Net income (loss)
available to
common
shareholders(1) 5,848 5,414 24,188 (5,837) (18,885)

Earnings (loss) per
share:
Basic $ .30 $ .28 $ 1.20 $ (.34) $ (.96)
Diluted $ .29 $ .27 $ 1.18 $ (.34) $ (.96)

Balance Sheet
Data:
Total current
assets $ 67,911 $ 70,103 $ 87,120 $ 105,182 $ 92,229
Other long-term
assets 11,768 14,542 12,249 9,051 7,305
Total assets 178,927 196,631 216,559 233,233 227,625

Long-term
obligations 38,762 35,178 35,347 46,171 13,067
Total liabilities 100,173 95,712 83,210 100,407 69,146

Preferred stock(2) - - 37,345 57,345 87,203
78,754 100,919 133,349 132,826 158,479
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equity

(1)  Net income in fiscal 2006 includes the impact of deferred tax asset valuation allowance reversals totaling $20.3
million.

(2)  During fiscal 2007, we redeemed all remaining outstanding shares of Series A preferred stock at its
liquidation preference of $25 per share plus accrued dividends.
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ITEM 7.    Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Management’s discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.  These statements are based upon management’s current expectations and
are subject to various uncertainties and changes in circumstances.  Important factors that could cause actual results to
differ materially from those described in forward-looking statements are set forth below under the heading “Safe
Harbor Statement Under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.”

The Company suggests that the following discussion and analysis be read in conjunction with the Consolidated
Financial Statements and related notes as presented in Item 8 of this report on Form 10-K.

INTRODUCTION

The following management’s discussion and analysis is intended to provide a summary of the principal factors
affecting the results of operations, liquidity and capital resources, contractual obligations, and the critical accounting
policies of Franklin Covey Co. (also referred to as the Company, we, us, our, and FranklinCovey, unless otherwise
indicated) and subsidiaries.  This discussion and analysis should be read together with our consolidated financial
statements and related notes, which contain additional information regarding the accounting policies and estimates
underlying the Company’s financial statements.  Our consolidated financial statements and related notes are presented
in Item 8 of this report on Form 10-K.

FranklinCovey believes that great organizations consist of great people who form great teams that produce great
results.  To achieve great results, we seek to improve the effectiveness of organizations and individuals and we are a
worldwide leader in providing integrated learning and performance solutions to organizations and individuals that are
designed to enhance leadership, strategic execution, productivity, sales force effectiveness, communications, and other
skills.  Historically, our solutions included products and services that encompassed training and consulting,
assessment, and various application tools that were generally available in electronic or paper-based formats.  Our
products and services were available through professional consulting services, public workshops, retail stores,
catalogs, and the Internet at www.franklincovey.com and our best-known offerings in the marketplace included the
FranklinCovey Planner™, and a suite of individual-effectiveness and leadership-development training products based on
the best-selling book The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People.

Over the past several years, the strategic focus of both our Consumer Solutions Business Unit (CSBU), which was
focused primarily on sales of our products, and our Organizational Solutions Business Unit (OSBU), which was
focused on the development and delivery of training, consulting, and related services, has changed significantly.  As a
consequence of these changes in strategic direction, we determined that the extent of overlap between our training and
consulting offerings and our products has diminished.  After significant analysis and deliberation, it became apparent
that these business units would be able to operate more effectively as separate companies, each with clear and distinct
strategic objectives, market definitions, and competitive products and services.  This conclusion persuaded us to sell
substantially all of the operations of the CSBU.  During the fourth quarter of our fiscal year ended August 31, 2008,
we completed the sale of the CSBU to a newly formed entity, Franklin Covey Products, LLC and reported a gain of
$9.1 million from the transaction.  Franklin Covey Products, LLC was formed with the objective of expanding the
worldwide sales of Franklin Covey products through proprietary channels and through third-party retailers as
governed by a comprehensive license agreement with the Company.

Following the sale of the CSBU, we will be able to focus our full resources on the continued expansion of our
training, consulting, content-rich media, and thought leadership businesses, which currently operate in 147
countries.  Our business will primarily consist of training, consulting, and assessment services and products to help
organizations and individuals achieve superior results by focusing on and executing on top priorities, building the
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capability of knowledge workers, and aligning business processes.  Our training, consulting, and assessment offerings
include services based upon the popular workshop The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People; Leadership: Great
Leaders—Great  Teams—Great
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Results; The 4 Disciplines of ExecutionTM; FOCUS: Achieving Your Highest Priorities; The 8 Habits of a
Successful Marriage; Building Business Acumen; Championing Diversity; Leading at the Speed of Trust; Writing
Advantage, and Presentation Advantage.  During fiscal 2008, we introduced a new suite of services designed to help
our clients improve their sales through increased customer loyalty.  We also consistently seek to create, develop, and
introduce new services and products that will help our clients achieve greatness.

The key factors that influence our operating results include the number of organizations that are active customers; the
number of people trained within those organizations; the availability of budgeted training spending at our clients and
prospective clients, which is significantly influenced by general economic conditions; and our ability to manage
operating costs necessary to develop and provide meaningful training and related products to our clients.

The sale of the CSBU assets was completed with approximately two months left in our fiscal year ended August 31,
2008, and based upon continuing involvement we will not present the financial results of the CSBU in a discontinued
operations format.  Refer to Note 2 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 for a discussion of
the components of the gain and the accounting treatment of the sale of the CSBU assets.  Since the CSBU accounted
for approximately 47 percent of our consolidated sales in fiscal 2007, the sale of the CSBU had a significant impact on
our fiscal 2008 financial results and will have an even more pronounced comparative impact on our financial
statements in future periods.

Our fiscal year ends on August 31, and unless otherwise indicated, fiscal 2008, fiscal 2007, and fiscal 2006, refers to
the twelve-month periods ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview of the Fiscal Year ended August 31, 2008

Our fiscal 2008 operating results were significantly affected by the fourth quarter sale of our CSBU operations, which
is described above.  The sale of our CSBU operations primarily affected our financial statements through reduced
product sales in the fourth quarter, a corresponding reduction in our gross profit, reduced selling, general, and
administrative expenses, and the recognition of a $9.1 million gain.  We used substantially all of the net proceeds from
the sale of the CSBU to purchase approximately 3.0 million shares of our common stock for $28.2 million through a
modified “Dutch Auction” tender offer that was completed close to August 31, 2008.  Since the tender offer was
completed so near the end of our fiscal year, it did not have a significant impact on our weighted average shares
outstanding or our calculation of earnings per common share for the year.

For the year ended August 31, 2008, our consolidated sales decreased to $260.1 million compared to $284.1 million in
fiscal 2007.  The decrease in sales was primarily due to the sale of CSBU combined with declining product sales
during the fiscal year, which were partially offset by improved training and consulting service sales.  For the year
ended August 31, 2008, we reported income from operations of $16.8 million, including the gain from the sale of
CSBU, compared to $18.1 million in fiscal 2007, and our income before taxes decreased to $13.8 million compared to
$15.7 million in the prior year.  However, with the favorable impact of reduced preferred dividends resulting from the
fiscal 2007 redemption of the remaining preferred stock, our net income available to common shareholders increased
to $5.8 million compared to $5.4 million in fiscal 2007.

The following information is intended to provide an overview of the primary factors that influenced our financial
results for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2008:

•  
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Sales Performance – Our consolidated sales decreased $24.0 million compared to the prior year primarily due to the
sale of CSBU and declining product sales that occurred during fiscal 2008.  Our training and consulting services
sales increased by $0.4 million compared to fiscal 2007, which was primarily attributable to improvements in sales
through our international delivery channels.
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•  Gross Profit – Consolidated gross profit decreased to $161.8 million compared to $175.1 million in fiscal
2007.  However, our gross margin, which is gross profit stated as a percentage of sales, increased to 62.2 percent
compared to 61.6 percent in the prior year.  The increase in gross margin was due to increased training and
consulting services as a percent of total sales during fiscal 2008 since the majority of our training and consulting
services have higher gross margins than our product sales.

•  Operating Costs – Our operating costs, excluding the gain on the sale of CSBU and the fiscal 2007 gain on the
manufacturing facility, decreased by $4.1 million compared to fiscal 2007.  The decrease in operating costs was
attributable to a $7.9 million decrease in selling, general, and administrative expense, which was primarily due to
the sale of CSBU, that was partially offset by a $2.1 million restructuring charge, a $1.5 million impaired asset
charge, and a $0.3 million increase in depreciation expense.

Further details regarding these items can be found in the comparative analysis of fiscal 2008 compared to fiscal 2007
as discussed in this management’s discussion and analysis.

The following table sets forth, for the fiscal years indicated, the percentage of total sales represented by the line items
through income before income taxes in our consolidated income statements:

YEAR ENDED
AUGUST 31, 2008 2007 2006
Training and
consulting services
sales 53.1% 48.5% 43.9%
Product sales 46.9 51.5 56.1
Total sales 100.0 100.0 100.0

Training and
consulting services
cost of sales 17.2 15.2 14.6
Product cost of sales 20.6 23.2 25.1
Total cost of sales 37.8 38.4 39.7
Gross profit 62.2 61.6 60.3

Selling, general, and
administrative 54.3 52.5 52.0
Gain on sale of
CSBU assets (3.5) - -
Gain on sale of
manufacturing
facility - (0.4) -
Restructuring costs 0.8 - -
Impairment of assets 0.6 - -
Depreciation 2.2 1.8 1.9
Amortization 1.4 1.3 1.4
Total operating
expenses 55.8 55.2 55.3
Income from
operations 6.4 6.4 5.0
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Interest income 0.1 0.3 0.5
Interest expense (1.2) (1.2) (0.9)
Recovery from legal
settlement - - 0.3
Income before
income taxes 5.3% 5.5% 4.9%

Segment Review

During the majority of fiscal 2008 we had two operating segments:  the Organizational Solutions Business Unit
(OSBU) and the Consumer Solutions Business Unit (CSBU).  However, during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, we
completed the sale of substantially all of the assets of the CSBU, which reduced amounts reported by that segment in
fiscal 2008 by approximately two monthly reporting periods.  The following
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is a description of these segments, their primary operating components, and their significant business activities during
the periods reported:

Organizational Solutions Business Unit – The OSBU is primarily responsible for the development, marketing, sale, and
delivery of strategic execution, productivity, leadership, sales force performance, and communication training and
consulting solutions directly to organizational clients, including other companies, the government, and educational
institutions.  The OSBU includes the financial results of our domestic sales force, public programs, and certain
international operations.  The domestic sales force is responsible for the sale and delivery of our training and
consulting solutions services in the United States.  Our international sales group includes the financial results of our
directly owned foreign offices and royalty revenues from licensees.

Consumer Solutions Business Unit – This business unit was primarily focused on sales to individual customers and
small business organizations and included the results of our domestic retail stores, consumer direct operations
(primarily Internet sales and call center), wholesale operations, international product channels in certain countries, and
other related distribution channels, including government product sales and domestic printing and publishing
sales.  The CSBU results of operations also included the financial results of our paper planner manufacturing
operations.  Although CSBU sales primarily consisted of products such as planners, binders, software, totes, and
related accessories, virtually any component of our leadership, productivity, and strategy execution solutions may
have been purchased through our CSBU channels.

The following table sets forth sales data by category and for our operating segments for the periods indicated.  For
further information regarding our reporting segments and geographic information, refer to Note 19 to our consolidated
financial statements as found in Item 8 of this report on Form 10-K (in thousands).

YEAR ENDED
AUGUST 31, 2008

Percent
change
from
prior
year 2007

Percent
change
from
prior
year 2006

Sales by
Category:
Training and
consulting
services $ 138,112 - $ 137,708 12 $ 122,418
Products 121,980 (17) 146,417 (6) 156,205

$ 260,092 (8) $ 284,125 2 $ 278,623

Organizational
Solutions
Business Unit:
Domestic $ 91,287 (2) $ 93,308 10 $ 84,904
International 59,100 2 57,674 18 48,984

150,387 - 150,982 13 133,888

Consumer
Solutions
Business Unit:
Retail stores 42,167 (22) 54,316 (13) 62,156
Consumer direct 38,662 (19) 48,018 (8) 52,171
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Wholesale 16,970 (6) 17,991 1 17,782
CSBU
International 7,295 (1) 7,342 (5) 7,716
Other CSBU 4,611 (16) 5,476 12 4,910

109,705 (18) 133,143 (8) 144,735
Total net sales $ 260,092 (8) $ 284,125 2 $ 278,623
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FISCAL 2008 COMPARED TO FISCAL 2007

Sales

Training and Consulting Services – We offer a variety of training courses, training related products, and consulting
services focused on leadership, productivity, strategy execution, sales force performance, and effective
communications that are provided both domestically and internationally through the OSBU.  Our consolidated training
and consulting service sales increased by $0.4 million compared to the prior year.  Training and consulting service
sales performance in fiscal 2008 was primarily influenced by the following factors in our domestic and international
OSBU operations:

•  Domestic – Our domestic training sales decreased $2.0 million, or two percent, compared to fiscal 2007, primarily
due to lower sales from our sales performance group,  public programs, and our book and audio
divisions.  Decreased sales from these groups were partially offset by increased sales from our combined
geographical and vertical market sales offices and by increased sales from specialized seminar events.  During
fiscal 2008, sales through our direct sales offices improved over the prior year as acceptance of our core product
offerings, which includes The Seven Habits of Highly Effective People, Leadership: Great Leaders, Great Teams,
Great Results, and The 4 Disciplines of Execution, continued to strengthen.

Four of our seven domestic offices generated increased year-over-year sales and sales of our training materials to our
client facilitators improved four percent compared to the prior year.  Revenue from the number of training and
consulting days delivered increased two percent over the prior year as our average revenue per day received
increased.  The number of training days delivered, however, declined three percent compared to fiscal 2007.

•  International – International sales increased $1.4 million compared to the prior year.  Sales from our four remaining
directly owned foreign offices as well as from licensee royalty revenues increased $6.9 million, or 14 percent,
compared to the prior year as each of these units achieved double-digit growth.   Partially offsetting these increases
was the elimination of sales from our wholly owned subsidiary in Brazil and our training operations located in
Mexico.  We sold these operations to external licensees during fiscal 2007 and we now only receive royalty revenue
from their operations based upon gross sales.  The conversion of these operations to licensees had a $5.4 million
unfavorable impact on our international sales but improved our income from these operations compared to the prior
year.  The translation of foreign sales to United States dollars had a $3.7 million favorable impact on our
consolidated sales as foreign currencies strengthened against the United States dollar during fiscal 2008.

Product Sales – Consolidated product sales, which primarily consist of planners, binders, totes, software and related
accessories that are primarily sold through our CSBU channels, declined $24.4 million compared to the prior
year.  The decline in overall product sales during fiscal 2008 was primarily due to the sale of our CSBU operations in
fiscal 2008 combined with the following performance in CSBU delivery channels prior to the effective date of the
sale.

•  Retail Stores – Prior to the sale of the CSBU operations, our retail sales decreased compared to the prior year
primarily due to reduced traffic in our retail locations, which was partially due to a significant increase in the
number of wholesale outlets that sold our products and competed directly against our retail stores, reduced demand
for technology and related products, and fewer store locations, which had a $2.5 million impact on retail sales.  Our
retail store traffic, or the number of consumers entering our retail locations, declined by approximately 18 percent
on a comparable basis (for stores which were open during the comparable periods) and resulted in decreased sales
of “core” products (e.g. planners, binders, totes, and accessories).  Due to declining demand for electronic handheld
planning products, during late fiscal 2007 we decided to exit the low-margin handheld
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device and related electronics accessories business, which reduced retail sales by $0.9 million compared to the prior
year.  These factors combined to produce a 7 percent decline in year-over-year comparable store sales versus the prior
year.

•  Consumer Direct – Sales through our consumer direct channels (primarily the Internet and call center) decreased
primarily due to a decline in the number of customers visiting our website and a decline in the number of orders
that are being processed through the call center.  Visits to our website decreased from the prior year by
approximately 12 percent.  Declining consumer orders through the call center continues a long-term trend and
decreased by approximately 14 percent compared to the prior year, which we believe was partially the result of a
transition of customers to our other product channels.

•  Wholesale – Sales through our wholesale channel, which included sales to office superstores and other retail chains,
decreased primarily due to the transition of a portion of our wholesale business to a new distributor and the timing
of sales as the new distributor built inventories.

•  CSBU International – This channel includes the product sales of our directly owned international offices in Canada,
the United Kingdom, Mexico, and Australia.  Product sales were flat through these channels compared to the prior
year before the sale of CSBU.

•  Other CSBU – Other CSBU sales consist primarily of domestic printing and publishing sales and building sublease
revenues.  The decline in other CSBU sales was primarily due to decreased external printing sales, which was
partially offset by a $0.3 million increase in sublease revenue.

Following completion of the sale of our CSBU assets to Franklin Covey Products, we expect that our product sales
will decline sharply as the majority of sales reported through the above channels are transitioned to Franklin Covey
Products.

Gross Profit

Gross profit consists of net sales less the cost of goods sold or the cost of services provided.  Our cost of sales includes
materials used in the production of planners and related products, assembly and manufacturing labor costs, direct costs
of conducting seminars, freight, and certain other overhead costs.  Gross profit may be affected by, among other
things, prices of materials, labor rates, product sales mix, changes in product discount levels, production efficiency,
and freight costs.

We record the costs associated with operating our retail stores, call center, and Internet site as part of our consolidated
selling, general, and administrative expenses.  Therefore, our consolidated gross profit may not be comparable with
the gross profit of other companies that include similar costs in their cost of sales.

For fiscal 2008, our consolidated gross profit decreased to $161.8 million compared to $175.1 million in fiscal
2007.  The decrease was primarily attributable to the sale of CSBU and declining product sales during fiscal 2008
prior to the sale of CSBU.  Our consolidated gross margin, which is gross profit stated in terms of a percentage of
sales, improved to 62.2 percent of sales compared to 61.6 percent in fiscal 2007.  The slight increase in gross margin
percentage was primarily attributable to the continuing shift toward increased training and consulting sales, as a
percent of total sales, since training and consulting sales generally have higher margins than our product
sales.  Training and consulting service sales increased to 53 percent of total sales during fiscal 2008 compared to 49
percent in the prior year.
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During fiscal 2008, our training and consulting services gross margin decreased to 67.6 percent compared to 68.7
percent in the prior year.  The slight decrease was primarily attributable to increased amortization of capitalized
curriculum costs during the fiscal year, which was partially offset by increased licensee royalty revenues, which have
virtually no corresponding cost of sales.
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For the fiscal year ended August 31, 2008, our gross margin on product sales was 56.1 percent of sales compared to
55.0 percent in the prior year.

Operating Expenses

Selling, General and Administrative – Consolidated SG&A expenses decreased $7.9 million, or 5 percent, compared to
the prior year (excluding the gain on the sale of CSBU assets in fiscal 2008 and a gain on the sale of a manufacturing
facility in fiscal 2007).  The decrease in SG&A expenses was primarily due to 1) the fiscal 2008 sale of the CSBU,
which reduced CSBU SG&A expenses by $9.7 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 compared to the prior year;
2) a $1.7 million decrease in share-based compensation primarily due to the determination that no shares will be
awarded under our fiscal 2006 or fiscal 2007 long-term incentive plans and the corresponding reversal of share-based
compensation expense from those plans; 3) a $1.1 million decrease in bonuses and commissions based on sales
performance in the OSBU during the year; and 4) smaller decreases in SG&A spending in various other areas of our
operations.  These decreases were partially offset by 1) a $2.7 million increase in associate compensation primarily
resulting from the payment of awards and bonuses subsequent to the sale of CSBU; 2) a $1.4 million increase in
promotional costs in our OSBU, which were primarily comprised of increased spending for “Greatness Summit”
programs for our clients and increased spending on public programs promotional materials; 3) a $0.9 million increase
in legal fees primarily related to the EpicRealm litigation; and 4) a $0.6 million increase in retail store closure costs
that were primarily incurred in connection with the buyout of two leases.

Following the sale of the CSBU, we expect SG&A spending to decrease in fiscal 2009 compared to the corresponding
periods of fiscal 2008.

Gain on Sale of CSBU Assets – During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, we sold substantially all of the assets of our
CSBU to Franklin Covey Products for $32.0 million in cash, subject to adjustments for working capital on the closing
date of the sale, which was effective July 6, 2008.  On the date of the sale closing, the Company invested
approximately $1.8 million to purchase a 19.5 percent voting interest in Franklin Covey Products, made a $1.0 million
priority capital contribution with a 10 percent return, and will have the opportunity to earn contingent license fees if
Franklin Covey Products achieves specified performance objectives.  We recognized a gain of $9.1 million on the sale
of the CSBU assets and according to specific accounting guidance, we deferred a portion of the gain equal to our
investment in Franklin Covey Products.  We will recognize the deferred gain over the life of the long-term assets
acquired by Franklin Covey Products or when cash is received for payment of the priority contribution.  The gain on
the sale of CSBU assets also includes a $3.5 million note receivable for reimbursable transaction costs and excess
working capital that is due in January 2009.  The note receivable bears interest at Franklin Covey Products’ effective
borrowing rate, which was approximately 6.0 percent at August 31, 2008.

Restructuring Costs – Following the sale of our CSBU, we initiated a restructuring plan that reduces the number of our
domestic regional sales offices, decentralizes certain sales support functions, and significantly changes the operations
of our Canadian subsidiary.  The restructuring plan is intended to strengthen the remaining domestic sales offices and
reduce our overall operating costs.  During fiscal 2008 we expensed $2.1 million for anticipated severance costs
necessary to complete the restructuring plan and we expect that the restructuring plan will be substantially completed
during fiscal 2009.

Impairment of Assets – In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 we analyzed the expected future revenues and corresponding
cash flows expected to be generated from our The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People interactive program and
concluded that the expected future revenues, less direct costs, were insufficient to cover the carrying value of the
capitalized development costs.  Accordingly, in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 we recorded a $1.5 million
impairment charge to write this program down to its net realizable value.
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Depreciation and Amortization – Consolidated depreciation expense increased to $5.7 million compared to $5.4 million
in fiscal 2007.  The increase in our depreciation expense in fiscal 2008 was primarily due to the acceleration of $0.3
million of depreciation on a payroll software module that had a revision to its estimated useful life as we decided to
outsource our payroll services and an impairment charge totaling $0.3 million for software that did not function as
anticipated and was written off.  Depreciation expense in the prior year also included an impairment charge totaling
$0.3 million that we recorded to reduce the carrying value of one of our printing presses to be sold to its anticipated
sale price.  Based upon the sale of CSBU assets and anticipated capital spending in the remainder of fiscal 2008, we
expect that total depreciation expense in future periods will decrease compared to fiscal 2008 depreciation expense
levels.  During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 we determined that it was appropriate to reclassify depreciation
expense on our subleased corporate campus from cost of sales to depreciation expense.  The depreciation expense
reclassified from product cost of sales totaled $0.7 million, $0.7 million, and $0.6 million for the fiscal years ended
August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006.

Amortization expense from definite-lived intangible assets totaled $3.6 million for the fiscal years ended August 31,
2008 and 2007.  Absent any unforeseen intangible asset impairments, we expect that intangible asset amortization
expense will total $3.6 million in fiscal 2009.

Following completion of the sale of CSBU assets, we anticipate that our consolidated operating expenses in future
periods will decline compared to fiscal 2008 expense levels.

Interest Income and Expense

Interest Income – Our interest income decreased compared to the prior year primarily due to reduced cash balances
compared to the prior year and a reduction of interest rates on our depository accounts.

Interest Expense – Interest expense remained consistent with the prior year and was reflective of borrowings on our line
of credit facility and payments made on our building lease (financing obligation) during fiscal 2008.

Income Taxes

Our income tax provision for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008 and 2007 totaled $8.0 million.  Our effective tax
rate for fiscal 2008 of approximately 58 percent was higher than statutory combined rates primarily due to the accrual
of taxable interest income on the management stock loan program and withholding taxes on royalty income from
foreign licensees.  Since the Company is currently utilizing net operating loss carryforwards, we are unable to reduce
our domestic tax liability through the use of foreign tax credits, which normally result from the payment of foreign
withholding taxes.  However, the utilization of domestic loss carryforwards has, and will continue to, minimize cash
outflows related to domestic income taxes until they are exhausted.

On September 1, 2007, we adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes - an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (Fin 48), which had an immaterial impact on our
financial statements.  Refer to Note 17 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further details regarding
our income taxes.

Preferred Stock Dividends

Our preferred stock dividends declined $2.2 million compared to fiscal 2007.  The decrease in preferred stock
dividends was due to the redemption of all remaining outstanding shares of preferred stock during the third quarter of
fiscal 2007.
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FISCAL 2007 COMPARED TO FISCAL 2006

Sales

Training and Consulting Services – Our consolidated training and consulting service sales increased $15.3 million
compared to the prior year and maintained the favorable momentum in training and consulting sales that began in
fiscal 2005.  Training and consulting service sales performance during fiscal 2007 was primarily influenced by the
following results in our OSBU divisions:

•  Domestic – Our domestic training, consulting, and related sales reported through the OSBU continued to show
improvement over the prior year and increased by $8.4 million, or 10 percent.  The improvement was primarily due
to the December 2006 launch of our new course, Leadership:  Great Leaders, Great Teams, Great Results and
increased sales in our individual effectiveness product lines, which contain our signature course based upon
principles found in The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People.  Our execution product lines, which are primarily
based on our 4 Disciplines of Execution curriculum and our Helping Clients Succeed sales training program also
showed year-over-year improvements and contributed to improved training and consulting service sales.

Generally, our training programs and consulting services continued to gain widespread acceptance in the marketplace
during fiscal 2007 and all five of our geographic regions generated increased year-over-year sales.  Furthermore, the
number of training and coaching days delivered increased 23 percent and the average revenue per day received
increased six percent.  Sales of training materials to our client facilitators also improved over the prior year.

•  International – International sales increased $8.7 million compared to fiscal 2006.  Sales from our
wholly-owned foreign offices and royalty revenues from third-party licensees all grew compared to fiscal
2006.  The translation of foreign sales to the United States dollar also helped to improve reported sales and
had a $0.6 million favorable impact on our consolidated sales as certain foreign currencies strengthened
against the United States dollar during the year ended August 31, 2007.  Our wholly-owned subsidiary in
Japan generated the largest year-over-year improvement, and grew its revenues 12 percent, including the
effects of foreign exchange, compared to the prior year.

Product Sales – Consolidated product sales declined by $9.8 million, or six percent, compared to fiscal 2006.  The
decline in overall product sales was primarily due to continuing decreases in retail store sales and declining sales
through our consumer direct channels when compared to prior periods.  The following is a description of sales
performance in our various CSBU channels for the year ended August 31, 2007:

•  Retail Sales – The $7.8 million decline in retail sales was primarily due to the impact of closed stores, reduced sales
of technology and specialty products, and decreased store traffic.  Based upon various analyses, we closed certain
retail store locations in late fiscal 2006 and during fiscal 2007, which had a $4.6 million unfavorable impact on our
overall retail sales in fiscal 2007.  Due to declining demand for electronic handheld planning products, we decided
to exit the low margin handheld device and accessories business, which reduced retail sales by $2.1 million
compared to the prior year.  For the remaining retail stores, the decline in sales was primarily due to reduced traffic,
or consumers entering our retail locations.  Our retail store traffic declined by approximately 12 percent from fiscal
2006 and resulted in decreased sales of “core” products (e.g. planners, binders, totes, and accessories) compared to the
prior year.  These factors combined to produce a six percent decline in year-over-year comparable store sales in
fiscal 2007 as compared to fiscal 2006.  At August 31, 2007, we were operating 87 domestic retail locations
compared to 89 locations at August 31, 2006.

•  Consumer Direct – Sales through our consumer direct channels decreased $4.2 million, primarily due to a decline in
the conversion rate of customers visiting our website, decreased consumer traffic through the call center channel,

Edgar Filing: FRANKLIN COVEY CO - Form 10-K

56



and decreased public seminar sales.  Although visits to our

32

Edgar Filing: FRANKLIN COVEY CO - Form 10-K

57



Table of Contents

website increased from the prior year, the conversion of those visits to sales decreased to 6.0 percent in fiscal 2007
compared from 6.8 percent in fiscal 2006.  We believe that the increase in customer visits and decrease in conversion
rate is primarily a function of the increase in promotionally oriented shoppers, or those who visit the website
frequently, but only purchase when desired products are on sale.  Declining consumer traffic through the call center
channel continues a long-term trend and decreased by approximately four percent, which we believe was primarily a
result of the transition of customers to our website.

•  Wholesale Sales – Sales through our wholesale channel, which includes sales to office superstores and other retail
chains, were up approximately one percent over the prior year.  The increase was primarily due to an increase in the
number of retail outlets serviced through our wholesale channel and increased demand for our products in those
locations.

•  CSBU International – This channel includes the product sales of our directly owned international offices in Canada,
the United Kingdom, Mexico, and Australia.  Sales performance through these channels decreased slightly
compared with the prior year.  We separated the product sales operations from the OSBU in these international
locations during fiscal 2007 to utilize existing product sales and marketing expertise in an effort to improve overall
product sales performance at these offices.

•  Other CSBU Sales – Other CSBU sales primarily consist of domestic printing and publishing sales and building
sublease revenues.  The increase in other CSBU sales was primarily due to improved external domestic printing
sales, which increased $0.4 million compared to the prior year.  The increase was due to additional printing
contracts obtained during fiscal 2007.  In fiscal 2007, we reported $2.1 million of sublease revenues as a component
of product sales in our consolidated financial statements compared to $1.9 million in the prior year.

Gross Profit

Our consolidated gross profit totaled $175.1 million for fiscal 2007 compared to $168.0 million in the prior year.  The
increase in our gross profit was primarily attributable to increased training and consulting service sales through our
OSBU.  Our consolidated gross margin, which is gross profit stated in terms of a percentage of sales, was 61.6 percent
of sales compared to 60.3 percent in fiscal 2006.  The improvement in gross margin was primarily attributable to the
continuing shift toward increased training and consulting sales, which generally have higher margins than the majority
of our product sales.  Training and consulting service sales increased to 49 percent of total sales in fiscal 2007
compared to 44 percent in the prior year.

During fiscal 2007, our training and consulting services gross margin was 68.7 percent compared to 66.7 percent in
the prior year.  The improvement in training and consulting services gross margin was primarily due to changes in the
mix of training programs sold as certain programs and training courses have higher gross margins than other
programs.

Our gross margin on product sales declined slightly to 55.0 percent compared to 55.2 percent in fiscal 2006.

Operating Expenses

Selling, General, and Administrative – Our consolidated SG&A expenses increased $4.5 million, or 3 percent,
compared to the prior year.  The increase in SG&A expenses consisted primarily of 1) increased associate expenses;
2) increased development costs; 3) increased legal fees; and 4) increased accounting fees.  Our associate expenses
increased $3.2 million primarily due to increased commissions and bonuses on improved OSBU sales and additional
OSBU sales personnel, which totaled $2.6 million, and increased share-based compensation costs totaling $0.6
million, which was primarily attributable to performance awards granted in fiscal 2007.   We spent an additional $0.8
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2007.  Our legal fees increased primarily due to the effects of a non-recurring benefit recorded in fiscal 2006 from the
WMA legal settlement and increased legal costs for ongoing litigation that had a net impact on our operating expenses
totaling $0.7 million.  During fiscal 2006, we were required to begin complying with Section 404 of the Sarbanes
Oxley Act of 2002 (SOX 404), which resulted in $0.4 million of additional auditing and related consulting fees in
fiscal 2007 compared with the prior year.  These increases in SG&A expense were partially offset by reduced costs in
various other areas of the Company.

Gain on Sale of Manufacturing Facility – In August 2006, we initiated a project to reconfigure our printing operations
to improve our printing services’ efficiency, reduce operating costs, and improve our printing services’ flexibility to
potentially increase external printing service sales.  Our reconfiguration plan included moving our printing operations
a short distance from its existing location to our corporate headquarters campus and the sale of the manufacturing
facility and certain printing presses.  During fiscal 2007, we completed the sale of the manufacturing facility.  The sale
price was $2.5 million and, after deducting customary closing costs, the net proceeds to the Company from the sale
totaled $2.3 million in cash.  The carrying value of the manufacturing facility at the date of sale was approximately
$1.1 million and we recognized a $1.2 million gain on the sale of the manufacturing facility during the year ended
August 31, 2007.

Depreciation and Amortization – Depreciation expense was essentially flat compared to the prior year.  During recent
fiscal years our depreciation expense has declined due to the full depreciation or disposal of certain property and
equipment (including retail stores) and the effects of significantly reduced capital expenditures.  However, these
declines stabilized during fiscal 2007 primarily due to increased capital expenditures for property and equipment and
an impairment charge totaling $0.3 million that we recorded during fiscal 2007 to reduce the carrying value of one of
our printing presses that was sold to its anticipated sale price.

Amortization expense from definite-lived intangible assets totaled $3.6 million compared to $3.8 million in fiscal
2006.  The decrease was due to certain intangible assets becoming fully depreciated during the first two quarters of
fiscal 2006.

Interest Income and Expense

Interest Income – Our interest income decreased by $0.6 million primarily due to reduced cash and cash equivalents
held during the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2007.  During the third quarter of fiscal 2007, we used substantially
all of our available cash on hand combined with proceeds from a newly acquired line of credit to redeem the
remaining outstanding shares of Series A preferred stock.

Interest Expense – Interest expense increased $0.5 million compared to the prior year primarily due to line of credit
borrowings that were used in conjunction with available cash to redeem the remaining shares of preferred stock in the
third quarter of fiscal 2007.

Income Taxes

Our income tax provision for fiscal 2007 totaled $8.0 million compared to a tax benefit of $14.9 million in fiscal
2006.  The comparability of our fiscal 2007 income tax expense was primarily affected by the determination during
the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006 to reverse substantially all of the valuation allowances on our deferred income tax
assets.  Prior to the reversal of these valuation allowances, our income tax provisions were affected by reductions in
our deferred income tax valuation allowance as we utilized net operating loss carryforwards.  The fiscal 2006 income
tax provision was further reduced by the reversal of tax contingency reserves during the third quarter of that year.  No
material corresponding reversals of valuation allowance or tax contingency reserves occurred during fiscal 2007.  Our
effective tax rate for the year ended August 31, 2007 of approximately 51 percent was higher than statutory combined
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currently utilizing net operating loss carryforwards, we are unable to reduce our domestic tax liability through the use
of foreign tax credits, which normally result from the payment of foreign withholding taxes.

Preferred Stock Dividends

Our preferred stock dividends totaled $2.2 million for fiscal 2007 compared to $4.4 million during the prior year.  The
decrease in preferred stock dividends was due to fiscal 2006 preferred stock redemptions totaling $20.0 million and
the redemption of all remaining outstanding shares of preferred stock during the third quarter of fiscal 2007.

QUARTERLY RESULTS

The following tables set forth selected unaudited quarterly consolidated financial data for the years ended August 31,
2008 and 2007.  The quarterly consolidated financial data reflects, in the opinion of management, all adjustments
necessary to fairly present the results of operations for such periods.  The information presented in the following table
includes the reclassification of depreciation expense on our subleased property from cost of sales to depreciation
expense as previously discussed.  Results of any one or more quarters are not necessarily indicative of continuing
trends.

Quarterly Financial Information:

YEAR ENDED
AUGUST 31, 2008

December
1 March 1 May 31 August 31

In thousands, except per
share amounts
Net sales $ 73,574 $ 75,127 $ 59,061 $ 52,330
Gross profit 46,127 46,870 35,939 32,853
Selling, general, and
administrative expense 38,771 37,652 34,210 30,685
Gain on sale of
consumer solutions
business unit - - - (9,131)
Restructuring costs - - - 2,064
Impairment of assets - - - 1,483
Depreciation 1,380 1,532 1,679 1,101
Amortization 899 901 902 901
Income (loss) from
operations 5,077 6,785 (852) 5,750
Income (loss) before
income taxes 4,176 6,039 (1,522) 5,141
Net income (loss) 2,059 3,082 (1,511) 2,218

Earnings (loss) per share
available to common
shareholders:
Basic $ .11 $ .16 $ (.09) $ .11
Diluted $ .10 $ .16 $ (.09) $ .11
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YEAR ENDED
AUGUST 31, 2007

December
2 March 3 June 2 August 31

In thousands, except per
share amounts
Net sales $ 75,530 $ 76,876 $ 64,509 $ 67,210
Gross profit 46,573 47,364 39,811 41,330
Selling, general, and
administrative expense 40,849 36,666 35,287 36,418
Gain on sale of
manufacturing facility - (1,227) - -
Depreciation 1,212 1,541 1,235 1,406
Amortization 902 900 906 899
Income from operations 3,610 9,484 2,383 2,607
Income before income
taxes 3,150 9,166 1,640 1,709
Net income 1,416 4,714 887 612
Preferred stock
dividends (934) (934) (348) -
Income available to
common shareholders 482 3,780 539 612

Earnings per share
available to common
shareholders:
Basic $ .02 $ .19 $ .03 $ .03
Diluted $ .02 $ .19 $ .03 $ .03
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Our quarterly results of operations reflect seasonal trends that are primarily the result of customers who renew their
FranklinCovey Planners on a calendar year basis.  Domestic training sales are moderately seasonal because of the
timing of corporate training, which is not typically scheduled as heavily during holiday and vacation periods.

The fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 reflects the sale of CSBU assets, which reduced sales and corresponding costs
associated with the operations of the CSBU.  We recognized a $9.1 million gain on the sale of the CSBU assets, which
had a favorable impact on that period’s operating results.  In future periods we expect that our quarterly sales will be
less seasonal since they will not include product sales that are sold primarily during November, December, and
January.

Quarterly fluctuations may also be affected by other factors including the introduction of new offerings, the addition
of new organizational customers, and the elimination of underperforming offerings.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Summary

At August 31, 2008 we had $15.9 million of cash and cash equivalents compared to $6.1 million at August 31, 2007
and our net working capital (current assets less current liabilities) decreased to $5.8 million at August 31, 2008
compared to $8.9 million at August 31, 2007.  Our net working capital at August 31, 2008 was affected by proceeds
received from the sale of CSBU assets during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, which impacted available cash and
other remaining assets and liabilities, and the completion of a modified “Dutch auction” tender offer near the end of the
fiscal year that required us to record a $28.2 million current liability at August 31, 2008 for shares of our common
stock acquired through the tender offer.  The obligation for the shares acquired through the tender offer was paid
subsequent to August 31, 2008.

Our primary sources of liquidity are cash flows from the sale of services in the normal course of business and
proceeds from our $25.0 million revolving line of credit.  In connection with the sale of the CSBU assets during the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, our line of credit agreements with our previous lenders were modified (the Modified
Credit Agreement).  The Modified Credit Agreement removed one lender from the credit facility, but continues to
provide a total of $25.0 million of borrowing capacity until June 30, 2009, when the borrowing capacity will be
reduced to $15.0 million.  In addition, the interest rate on the credit facility increased from LIBOR plus 1.10 percent
to LIBOR plus 1.50 percent (4.0 percent at August 31, 2008), which was effective on the date of the modification
agreement.  The fiscal 2007 line of credit obligation was classified as a component of current liabilities primarily due
to our intention to repay amounts outstanding before the agreement expires.  The Modified Credit Agreement expires
on March 14, 2010 (no change) and we may draw on the credit facilities, repay, and draw again, on a revolving basis,
up to the maximum loan amount available so long as no event of default has occurred and is continuing.  We may use
the line of credit facility for general corporate purposes as well as for other transactions, unless prohibited by the
terms of the Modified Credit Agreement.  The working capital line of credit also contains customary representations
and guarantees as well as provisions for repayment and liens.

In addition to customary non-financial terms and conditions, our line of credit requires us to be in compliance with
specified financial covenants, including: (i) a funded debt to earnings ratio; (ii) a fixed charge coverage ratio; (iii) a
limitation on annual capital expenditures; and (iv) a defined amount of minimum net worth.  In the event of
noncompliance with these financial covenants and other defined events of default, the lenders are entitled to certain
remedies, including acceleration of the repayment of
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amounts outstanding on the line of credit.  During fiscal 2008, we believe that we were in compliance with the terms
and financial covenants of our credit facilities.  At August 31, 2008, we did not have any borrowings outstanding on
the line of credit.

During fiscal 2008, many banks in the United States and in foreign countries experienced financial and solvency
difficulties that lead to significant reductions in the amount of available credit in the general market.  We believe that
the lender on our line of credit facility is financially sound and we expect to be able to borrow available amounts on
the line of credit.  However, the availability of cash from our line of credit lender is not within our control and
additional borrowings may not be available in future periods.

In addition to our $25.0 million line of credit, we have a long-term variable rate mortgage on our Canadian building
and a long-term lease on our corporate campus that is accounted for as a long-term financing obligation.

The following table summarizes our cash flows from operating, investing, and financing activities for the past three
years (in thousands):

YEAR
ENDED
AUGUST
31, 2008 2007 2006
Total cash
provided by
(used for):
Operating
activities $ 7,828 $ 13,358 $ 17,009
Investing
activities 18,520 (11,480) (8,267)
Financing
activities (16,159) (26,376) (29,903)
Effect of
exchange
rates on
cash (411) 37 58
Increase
(decrease)
in cash and
cash
equivalents $ 9,778 $ (24,461) $ (21,103)

The following discussion is a description of the primary factors affecting our cash flows and their effects upon our
liquidity and capital resources during the fiscal year ended August 31, 2008.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Our primary source of cash from operating activities was the sale of goods and services to our customers in the normal
course of business.  The primary uses of cash for operating activities were payments to suppliers for materials used in
products sold, payments for direct costs necessary to conduct training programs, and payments for selling, general,
and administrative expenses.  Our cash flows from operating activities were unfavorably affected by cash spent to
complete the CSBU asset sale and on behalf of Franklin Covey Products, which generated a $7.7 million receivable
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that is expected to be substantially collected by January 2009, a $7.2 million increase in our accounts receivable
resulting primarily from seasonally heavy training product sales in August of each year, and a $1.5 million decrease in
our accounts payable and accrued liabilities.  However, these uses of cash were partially offset by cash generated
through a $7.1 million decrease in other assets and a $2.9 million decrease in our inventories.  Following the sale of
the CSBU in fiscal 2008, we expect that our seasonal fluctuations in cash used for and provided by operating activities
will stabilize since we will not be required to purchase and accumulate inventory for seasonally busy product sales
months of November, December, and January.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities and Capital Expenditures

Our cash flows provided by investing activities were primarily affected by cash received from the sale of CSBU assets
in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, which totaled $28.2 million net of transaction costs and cash transferred to
Franklin Covey Products.  Our primary uses of cash for investing activities were purchases of property and equipment
totaling $4.2 million and expenditures for curriculum development totaling $4.0 million.  Purchases of property and
equipment consisted primarily of payments for new computer hardware, new computer software, and leasehold
improvements in relocated retail stores (prior to the sale of CSBU assets) and for subleases on our corporate campus
facility.  We also invested $2.8 million in Franklin Covey Products to purchase ownership rights and for a $1.0
million priority contribution.
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During fiscal 2009, we expect to spend $2.3 million on purchases of property and equipment and $1.4 million on
curriculum development activities.  Purchases of property and equipment are expected to consist primarily of new
computer software, computer hardware, and in other areas as deemed necessary.  However, actual capital spending is
based upon a variety of factors and may differ from these estimates.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Our primary use and source of cash flows for financing activities were payments made and proceeds obtained from
our $25.0 million line of credit facility.  Primarily as a result of the sale of CSBU assets in the fourth quarter of fiscal
2008, we were able to repay amounts outstanding on our line of credit, which totaled $16.0 million during fiscal
2008.  In addition to payments on our line of credit, we made principal payments totaling $0.6 million on our
long-term debt and financing obligation and received payments totaling $0.5 million from sales of our common stock,
which primarily consisted of proceeds received from participants in our employee stock purchase plan.

As previously mentioned, we completed a tender offer for shares of our common stock near the end of the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2008 and recorded a $28.2 million current liability for the shares acquired.  We paid for the shares
acquired through the tender offer subsequent to August 31, 2008.

Sources of Liquidity

Going forward, we will continue to incur costs necessary for the operation and potential growth of the business.  We
anticipate using cash on hand, cash provided by the sale of goods and services to our clients on the condition that we
can continue to generate positive cash flows from operating activities, proceeds from our line of credit, and other
financing alternatives, if necessary, for these expenditures.  We anticipate that our existing capital resources should be
adequate to enable us to maintain our operations for at least the upcoming twelve months.  However, our ability to
maintain adequate capital for our operations in the future is dependent upon a number of factors, including sales
trends, our ability to contain costs, purchases of our common stock, levels of capital expenditures, collection of
accounts receivable, and other factors.  Some of the factors that influence our operations are not within our control,
such as economic conditions and the introduction of new technology and products by our competitors.  We will
continue to monitor our liquidity position and may pursue additional financing alternatives, if required, to maintain
sufficient resources for future growth and capital requirements.  However, there can be no assurance such financing
alternatives will be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all.

Contractual Obligations

The Company has not structured any special purpose or variable interest entities, or participated in any commodity
trading activities, which would expose us to potential undisclosed liabilities or create adverse consequences to our
liquidity.  Required contractual payments primarily consist of lease payments resulting from the sale of our corporate
campus (financing obligation); payments to EDS for outsourcing services related to information systems,
warehousing, and distribution services; minimum rent payments for office and warehouse space; mortgage payments
on certain buildings and property; and short-term purchase obligations for inventory items and other products and
services used in the ordinary course of business.  Our expected payments on these obligations over the next five fiscal
years and thereafter are as follows (in thousands):
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Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
Contractual
Obligations 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Thereafter Total
Required lease
payments on
corporate campus $ 3,045 $ 3,055 $ 3,116 $ 3,178 $ 3,242 $ 43,537 $ 59,173
Minimum
required payments
to EDS for
outsourcing
services(1)   4,138   4,138   4,138   4,138   4,138 11,246   31,936
Minimum
operating lease
payments(2) 1,671 1,620 1,608 1,517 1,178 3,427 11,021
Tender offer
obligation(3) 28,222 - - - - - 28,222
Long-term
mortgage
payments(4) 136 131 126 121 116 154 784
Purchase
obligations 4,564 - - - - - 4,564
Total expected
contractual
obligation
payments $ 41,776 $ 8,944 $ 8,988 $ 8,954 $ 8,674 $ 58,364 $ 135,700

(1)  Our obligation for outsourcing services contains an annual escalation based upon changes in the Employment
Cost Index, the impact of which was not estimated in the above table.  We are also contractually allowed to
collect amounts from Franklin Covey Products that reduce the amounts shown in the table above.

(2)  The operating agreement with Franklin Covey Products provides for reimbursement of a portion of the warehouse
leasing costs, the impact of which is not included in the lease obligations in the table above.

(3)  We completed a tender offer for shares of our common stock near the end of the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 and
recorded a $28.2 million current liability for the shares acquired.  We paid for the shares acquired through the
tender offer subsequent to August 31, 2008.

(4)  Our long-term variable-rate mortgage obligation includes interest payments at 4.8 percent, which was the
applicable interest rate at August 31, 2008.

Our contractual obligations presented above exclude unrecognized tax benefits under FIN 48 of $4.2 million for which
we cannot make a reasonably reliable estimate of the amount and period of payment.  For further information
regarding the adoption of FIN 48, refer to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as presented in Item 8 of
this report on Form 10-K.

Other Items
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The Company is the creditor for a loan program that provided the capital to allow certain management personnel the
opportunity to purchase shares of our common stock.  For further information regarding our management common
stock loan program, refer to the notes to our consolidated financial statements as found in Item 8 of this report on
Form 10-K.  The inability of the Company to collect all, or a portion, of these receivables could have an adverse
impact upon our financial position and future cash flows compared to full collection of the loans.

USE OF ESTIMATES AND CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Our consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America.  The significant accounting polices that we used to prepare our consolidated financial
statements are outlined in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, which are presented in Part II, Item 8 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.  Some of those accounting policies require us to make assumptions and use judgments
that may affect the amounts reported in our consolidated financial statements.  Management regularly evaluates its
estimates and assumptions and bases those estimates and assumptions on historical experience, factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, and requirements under accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.  Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or
conditions, including changes in economic and political conditions and other circumstances that are not in our control,
but which may have an impact on these estimates and our actual financial results.

The following items require the most significant judgment and often involve complex estimates:
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Revenue Recognition

We derive revenues primarily from the following sources:

•  Training and Consulting Services – We provide training and consulting services to both organizations and
individuals in leadership, productivity, strategic execution, goal alignment, sales force performance, and
communication effectiveness skills.  These training programs and services are primarily sold through our OSBU
channels.

•  Products – We sold planners, binders, planner accessories, handheld electronic devices, and other related products
that were primarily sold through our CSBU channels prior to the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008.

We recognize revenue in accordance with SAB No. 101, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements, as amended
by SAB No. 104, Revenue Recognition.  Accordingly, we recognize revenue when: 1) persuasive evidence of an
agreement exists, 2) delivery of product has occurred or services have been rendered, 3) the price to the customer is
fixed or determinable, and 4) collectibility is reasonably assured.  For product sales, these conditions are generally met
upon shipment of the product to the customer or by completion of the sales transaction in a retail store.  For training
and service sales, these conditions are generally met upon presentation of the training seminar or delivery of the
consulting services.

Some of our training and consulting contracts contain multiple deliverable elements that include training along with
other products and services.  For transactions that contain more than one element, we recognize revenue in accordance
with EITF Issue No. 00-21, Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.  When fair value
exists for all contracted elements, the overall contract consideration is allocated among the separate units of
accounting based upon their relative fair values.  Revenue for these units is recognized in accordance with our general
revenue policies once it has been determined that the delivered items have standalone value to the customer.  If fair
value does not exist for all contracted elements, revenue for the delivered items is recognized using the residual
method, which generally means that revenue recognition is postponed until the point is reached when the delivered
items have standalone value and fair value exists for the undelivered items.  Under the residual method, the amount of
revenue considered for recognition under our general revenue policies is the total contract amount, less the aggregate
fair value of the undelivered items.  Fair value of the undelivered items is based upon the normal pricing practices for
our existing training programs, consulting services, and other products, which are generally the prices of the items
when sold separately.

Our international strategy includes the use of licensees in countries where we do not have a wholly-owned
operation.  Licensee companies are unrelated entities that have been granted a license to translate our content and
curriculum, adapt the content and curriculum to the local culture, and sell our training seminars and products in a
specific country or region.  Licensees are required to pay us royalties based upon a percentage of the licensee’s
sales.  We recognize royalty income each period based upon the sales information reported to the Company from the
licensee.  Royalty revenue is reported as a component of training and consulting service sales in our consolidated
income statements.

Revenue is recognized on software sales in accordance with SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition as amended by
SOP 98-09.  Statement 97-2, as amended, generally requires revenue earned on software arrangements involving
multiple elements such as software products and support to be allocated to each element based on the relative fair
value of the elements based on vendor specific objective evidence (VSOE).  The majority of the Company’s software
sales have multiple elements, including a license and post contract customer support (PCS).  Currently we do not have
VSOE for either the license or support elements of our software sales.  Accordingly, revenue is deferred until the only
undelivered element is PCS and the total arrangement fee is recognized over the support period.
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Revenue is recognized as the net amount to be received after deducting estimated amounts for discounts and product
returns.

Share-Based Compensation

During fiscal 2006, we granted performance-based compensation awards to certain employees in a Board of Director
approved long-term incentive plan (the LTIP).  These performance-based share awards allow each participant the right
to receive a certain number of shares of common stock based upon the achievement of specified financial goals at the
end of a predetermined performance period.  The LTIP awards vest on August 31 of the third fiscal year from the
grant date, which corresponds to the completion of a three-year performance cycle.  For example, the LTIP awards
granted in fiscal 2006 vest on August 31, 2008.  The number of shares that are finally awarded to LTIP participants is
variable and is based entirely upon the achievement of a combination of performance objectives related to sales
growth and cumulative operating income during the performance period.  Due to the variable number of shares that
may be issued under the LTIP, we reevaluated the LTIP grants on a quarterly basis and adjust the number of shares
expected to be awarded for each grant based upon financial results of the Company as compared to the performance
goals set for the award.  Adjustments to the number of shares awarded, and to the corresponding compensation
expense, are based upon estimated future performance and are made on a cumulative basis at the date of adjustment
based upon the probable number of shares to be awarded.

The Compensation Committee initially granted awards for 378,665 shares (the Target Award) of common stock under
the LTIP during fiscal 2006.  However, based upon actual financial performance through December 1, 2007 and
estimated performance through the remaining service period of the fiscal 2006 LTIP grant, the Company determined
that no shares of common stock would be awarded under the terms of the fiscal 2006 LTIP grant.  We determined that
our anticipated sales growth in training and consulting sales would be insufficient to offset forecast product sales
declines, which were revised using actual product sales levels late in our first fiscal quarter and early second fiscal
quarter, and the impact of eliminated sales resulting from the disposal and conversion of our subsidiary in Brazil and
our training operations in Mexico to licensees.  Although we expected sufficient levels of cumulative operating
income to be recognized for the fiscal 2006 award, anticipated sales growth was below the minimum 7.5 percent
threshold for shares to be awarded under the plan.  As a result of this determination, we recorded a cumulative
adjustment in the quarter ended December 1, 2007 that reduced our selling, general, and administrative expenses by
$0.7 million and no compensation expense was recognized from the fiscal 2006 LTIP award during the quarters ended
March 1, 2008, May 31, 2008, or August 31, 2008.  The fiscal 2006 LTIP award expired on August 31, 2008 with no
shares granted under this award.

During fiscal 2007, the Compensation Committee granted performance awards for 429,312 shares of common stock
under the terms of the LTIP.  The Company must achieve minimum levels of sales growth and cumulative operating
income in order for participants to receive any shares under the fiscal 2007 LTIP grant.  The minimum sales growth
for the fiscal 2007 LTIP was 10.0 percent (fiscal 2009 compared to fiscal 2007) and the minimum cumulative
operating income total during the service period was $41.3 million.  We recorded compensation expense on the fiscal
2007 LTIP using a 5 percent estimated forfeiture rate during the vesting period.  However, the total amount of
compensation expense recorded for the fiscal 2007 LTIP would have equaled the number of shares awarded multiplied
by $5.78 per share.

Based upon our assessment of the fiscal 2007 LTIP at May 31, 2008, we determined that no shares of common stock
would be awarded to participants under the terms of the fiscal 2007 LTIP grant.  Consistent with the analysis of the
fiscal 2006 LTIP grant, we expected sufficient levels of operating income to be recognized for the fiscal 2007 award,
but expected sales growth was determined to be insufficient for any shares to be awarded under this plan.  The revised
sales projections included actual performance through May 31, 2008 and estimated sales performance through fiscal
2009 based upon revised assumptions, which were adversely affected by slowing economic conditions in the United
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during the fiscal year ended August 31, 2008.  We do not expect any shares to vest under the terms of the fiscal 2007
LTIP award.

The analysis of our LTIP plans contained uncertainties because we were required to make assumptions and judgments
about the eventual number of shares that would vest in each LTIP grant.  The assumptions and judgments that are
essential to the analysis include forecasted sales and operating income levels during the LTIP service periods.  The
evaluation of LTIP performance awards and corresponding use of estimated amounts produced additional volatility in
our consolidated financial statements as we recorded cumulative adjustments to the estimated number of common
shares to be awarded under the LTIP grants as described above.

We estimate the value of our stock option awards on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model.  However, the Company did not grant any stock options during the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007,
or 2006, and we did not have any remaining unrecognized compensation expense associated with unvested stock
options at August 31, 2008.

Accounts Receivable Valuation

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest.  The allowance for doubtful
accounts represents our best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in the existing accounts receivable
balance.  We determine the allowance for doubtful accounts based upon historical write-off experience and current
economic conditions and we review the adequacy of our allowance for doubtful accounts on a regular
basis.  Receivable balances over 90 days past due, which exceed a specified dollar amount, are reviewed individually
for collectibility.  Account balances are charged off against the allowance after all means of collection have been
exhausted and the probability for recovery is considered remote.  We do not have any off-balance sheet credit
exposure related to our customers.

Our allowance for doubtful accounts calculations contain uncertainties because the calculations require us to make
assumptions and judgments regarding the collectibility of customer accounts, which may be influenced by a number
of factors that are not within our control, such as the financial health of each customer.  We regularly review the
collectibility assumptions of our allowance for doubtful accounts calculation and compare them against historical
collections.  Adjustments to the assumptions may either increase or decrease our total allowance for doubtful
accounts.  For example, a 10 percent increase to our allowance for doubtful accounts at August 31, 2008 would reduce
our reported income from operations by approximately $0.1 million.

Inventory Valuation

At August 31, 2008, following the sale of our CSBU, our inventories were comprised primarily of training materials
and related accessories.  Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market with cost determined using the first-in,
first-out method.  Inventories are reduced to their fair market value through the use of inventory loss reserves, which
are recorded during the normal course of business.

Our inventory loss reserve calculations contain uncertainties because the calculations require us to make assumptions
and judgments regarding a number of factors, including future inventory demand requirements and pricing
strategies.  During the evaluation process we consider historical sales patterns and current sales trends, but these may
not be indicative of future inventory losses.  While we have not made material changes to our inventory reserves
methodology during the past three years, our inventory requirements may change based on projected customer
demand, technological and product life cycle changes, longer or shorter than expected usage periods, and other factors
that could affect the valuation of our inventories.  If our estimates regarding consumer demand and other factors are
inaccurate, we may be exposed to losses that may have a materially adverse impact upon our financial position and
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Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

Intangible assets that are deemed to have an indefinite life are not amortized, but rather are tested for impairment on
an annual basis, or more often if events or circumstances indicate that a potential impairment exists.  The Covey trade
name intangible asset has been deemed to have an indefinite life.  This intangible asset is assigned to the OSBU and is
tested for impairment using the present value of estimated royalties on trade name related revenues, which consist
primarily of training seminars, international licensee royalties, and related products.  If the carrying value of the
Covey trade name exceeds the fair value of its discounted estimated royalties on trade name related revenues, an
impairment loss is recognized for the difference.  The adjusted basis becomes the carrying value until a future
impairment assessment determines that additional impairment charges are necessary.

Our impairment evaluation calculation for the Covey trade name contains uncertainties because it requires us to make
assumptions and apply judgment in order to estimate future cash flows, to estimate an appropriate royalty rate, and to
select a discount rate that reflects the inherent risk of future cash flows.  Our valuation methodology for the Covey
trade name was developed by an independent valuation firm and has remained materially unchanged during the past
three years.  However, if forecasts and assumptions used to support the carrying value of our indefinite-lived
intangible asset change in future periods, significant impairment charges could result that would have an adverse
effect upon our results of operations and financial condition.  Based upon the fiscal 2008 evaluation of the Covey
trade name, our trade-name related revenues and licensee royalties would have to suffer significant reductions before
we would be required to impair the Covey trade name.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived tangible assets and definite-lived intangible assets are reviewed for possible impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable.  We use an
estimate of undiscounted future net cash flows of the assets over their remaining useful lives in determining whether
the carrying value of the assets is recoverable.  If the carrying values of the assets exceed the anticipated future cash
flows of the assets, we calculate an impairment loss.  The impairment loss calculation compares the carrying value of
the asset to the asset’s estimated fair value, which may be based upon discounted cash flows over the estimated
remaining useful life of the asset.  If we recognize an impairment loss, the adjusted carrying amount of the asset
becomes its new cost basis, which is then depreciated or amortized over the remaining useful life of the
asset.  Impairment of long-lived assets is assessed at the lowest levels for which there are identifiable cash flows that
are independent from other groups of assets.

Our impairment evaluation calculations contain uncertainties because they require us to make assumptions and apply
judgment in order to estimate future cash flows, forecast the useful lives of the assets, and select a discount rate that
reflects the risk inherent in future cash flows.  Although we have not made any material changes to our long-lived
assets impairment assessment methodology during the past three years, if forecasts and assumptions used to support
the carrying value of our long-lived tangible and definite-lived intangible assets change in the future, significant
impairment charges could result that would adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

Income Taxes

We regularly evaluate our United States federal and various state and foreign jurisdiction income tax exposures.  On
September 1, 2007, we adopted the provisions of FIN 48, which addresses the determination of whether tax benefits
claimed or expected to be claimed on a tax return should be recorded in the financial statements.  Under the provisions
of FIN 48, we may recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the
tax position will be sustained upon examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the
position.  The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such a position are measured based on the
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accounting for income taxes in interim periods, and requires increased disclosure of various income tax items.  Taxes
and penalties are components of our overall income tax provision.  Prior to the adoption of FIN 48, interest on income
tax items was recorded as a component of consolidated interest expense.  Beginning on September 1, 2007, in
conjunction with the adoption of FIN 48, interest on income taxes is included as a component of overall income tax
expense.

The Company records previously unrecognized tax benefits in the financial statements when it becomes more likely
than not (greater than a 50 percent likelihood) that the tax position will be sustained.  To assess the probability of
sustaining a tax position, the Company considers all available evidence.  In many instances, sufficient positive
evidence may not be available until the expiration of the statute of limitations for audits by taxing jurisdictions, at
which time the entire benefit will be recognized as a discrete item in the applicable period.

Our unrecognized tax benefits result from uncertain tax positions about which we are required to make assumptions
and apply judgment to estimate the exposures associated with our various tax filing positions.  The calculation of our
income tax provision or benefit, as applicable, requires estimates of future taxable income or losses.  During the
course of the fiscal year, these estimates are compared to actual financial results and adjustments may be made to our
tax provision or benefit to reflect these revised estimates.  Our effective income tax rate is also affected by changes in
tax law and the results of tax audits by various jurisdictions.  Although we believe that our judgments and estimates
discussed herein are reasonable, actual results could differ, and we could be exposed to losses or gains that could be
material.

We regularly assess the need for valuation allowances against our deferred income tax assets, considering recent
profitability, known trends and events, and expected future transactions.  For several years prior to the year ended
August 31, 2006, our history of significant operating losses precluded us from demonstrating that it was more likely
than not that the related benefits from deferred income tax deductions and foreign tax carryforwards would be
realized.  Accordingly, we recorded valuation allowances on the majority of our deferred income tax assets.

In fiscal 2006 we reversed the majority of these valuation allowances.  Due to improved operating performance,
business models, and expectations regarding future taxable income, the Company has concluded that it is more likely
than not that the benefits of domestic operating loss carryforwards, together with the benefits of other deferred income
tax assets will be realized.  Thus, we reversed the valuation allowances on certain of our domestic deferred income tax
assets, except for $2.2 million related to foreign tax credits.  However, events and circumstances may change in future
periods, requiring us to record valuation allowances on our deferred income tax assets.  These deferred tax valuation
allowances could have a material impact upon our reported financial position and results of operations.

ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS ISSUED NOT YET ADOPTED

Fair Value Measures – In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measures.  This statement
establishes a single authoritative definition of fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair value, and requires
additional disclosures about fair-value measurements.  Statement No. 157 only applies to fair-value measurements that
are already required or permitted by other accounting standards except for measurements of share-based payments and
measurements that are similar to, but not intended to be, fair value.  This statement is effective for the specified fair
value measures for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and will thus be
effective for the Company in fiscal 2009.  We have not yet completed our analysis of the impact of SFAS No. 157 on
our financial statements.

Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities – In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159,
The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities including an Amendment of FASB Statement No.
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financial instruments and certain other items at fair value.  The provisions of SFAS No. 159 will become effective for
the Company in fiscal 2009 and we have not yet completed our analysis of the impact of SFAS No. 159 on our
financial statements.

Business Combinations – In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), Business Combinations
(SFAS No. 141R) and SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements.  These
standards aim to improve, simplify, and converge internationally the accounting for business combinations and the
reporting of noncontrolling interests in consolidated financial statements.  The provisions of SFAS No. 141R and
SFAS No. 160 are effective for our fiscal year beginning September 1, 2009.  We do not currently anticipate that these
statements will have a material impact upon our financial condition or results of operations.

Derivatives Disclosures – In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities.  Statement No. 161 is intended to improve financial reporting about derivative instruments
and hedging activities by requiring enhanced disclosures to enable investors to better understand their effects on an
entity's financial position, financial performance, and cash flows.  The provisions of SFAS No. 161 are effective for
our third quarter of fiscal 2009.  The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the provisions of SFAS No. 161,
but due to our limited use of derivative instruments we do not currently anticipate that the provisions of SFAS No. 161
will have a material impact on our financial statements.

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

The Company is registered in states in which we do business that have a sales tax and collects and remits sales or use
tax on retail sales made through its stores and catalog sales.  Compliance with environmental laws and regulations has
not had a material effect on our operations.

INFLATION AND CHANGING PRICES

Inflation has not had a material effect on our operations.  However, future inflation may have an impact on the price of
materials used in the production of training products and related accessories, including paper and related raw
materials.  We may not be able to pass on such increased costs to our customers.

SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT UNDER THE PRIVATE SECURITIES LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995

Certain written and oral statements made by the Company in this report are “forward-looking statements” within the
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 as amended (the Exchange Act).  Forward-looking statements include, without limitation, any statement that
may predict, forecast, indicate, or imply future results, performance, or achievements, and may contain words such as
“believe,” “anticipate,” “expect,” “estimate,” “project,” or words or phrases of similar meaning.  In our reports and filings we
may make forward looking statements regarding future training and consulting sales activity, anticipated expenses,
projected cost reduction and strategic initiatives, our expectations about the effect of the sale of the CSBU on our
business, our expectations about our restructuring plan, expected levels of depreciation expense, expectations
regarding tangible and intangible asset valuation expenses, the seasonality of future sales, the seasonal fluctuations in
cash used for and provided by operating activities, expected improvements in cash flows from operating activities, the
adequacy of our existing capital resources, future compliance with the terms and conditions of our line of credit, the
ability to borrow on our line of credit, expected repayment of our line of credit in future periods, estimated capital
expenditures, the adequacy of our existing capital resources, and cash flow estimates used to determine the fair value
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These risks and uncertainties are disclosed from time to time in reports filed by us with the SEC, including reports on
Forms 8-K, 10-Q, and 10-K.  Such risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, the matters discussed in Item
1A of this report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2008, entitled “Risk Factors.”  In addition, such
risks and uncertainties may include unanticipated developments in any one or more of the following
areas:  unanticipated costs or capital expenditures; difficulties encountered by EDS in operating and maintaining our
information systems and controls, including without limitation, the systems related to demand and supply planning,
inventory control, and order fulfillment; delays or unanticipated outcomes relating to our strategic plans; dependence
on existing products or services; the rate and consumer acceptance of new product introductions; competition; the
number and nature of customers and their product orders, including changes in the timing or mix of product or
training orders; pricing of our products and services and those of competitors; adverse publicity; and other factors
which may adversely affect our business.

The risks included here are not exhaustive.  Other sections of this report may include additional factors that could
adversely affect our business and financial performance.  Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly
changing environment.  New risk factors may emerge and it is not possible for our management to predict all such risk
factors, nor can we assess the impact of all such risk factors on our business or the extent to which any single factor,
or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in forward-looking
statements.  Given these risks and uncertainties, investors should not rely on forward-looking statements as a
prediction of actual results.

The market price of our common stock has been and may remain volatile.  In addition, the stock markets in general
have experienced increased volatility.  Factors such as quarter-to-quarter variations in revenues and earnings or losses
and our failure to meet expectations could have a significant impact on the market price of our common stock.  In
addition, the price of our common stock can change for reasons unrelated to our performance.  Due to our low market
capitalization, the price of our common stock may also be affected by conditions such as a lack of analyst coverage
and fewer potential investors.

Forward-looking statements are based on management’s expectations as of the date made, and the Company does not
undertake any responsibility to update any of these statements in the future except as required by law.  Actual future
performance and results will differ and may differ materially from that contained in or suggested by forward-looking
statements as a result of the factors set forth in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations and elsewhere in our filings with the SEC.

ITEM 7A.    Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market Risk of Financial Instruments

We are exposed to financial instrument market risk primarily through fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates
and interest rates.  To manage risks associated with foreign currency exchange and interest rates, we make limited use
of derivative financial instruments.  Derivatives are financial instruments that derive their value from one or more
underlying financial instruments.  As a matter of policy, our derivative instruments are entered into for periods
consistent with the related underlying exposures and do not constitute positions that are independent of those
exposures.  In addition, we do not enter into derivative contracts for trading or speculative purposes, nor are we party
to any leveraged derivative instrument.  The notional amounts of derivatives do not represent actual amounts
exchanged by the parties to the instrument, and, thus, are not a measure of exposure to us through our use of
derivatives.  Additionally, we enter into derivative agreements only with highly rated counterparties and we do not
expect to incur any losses resulting from non-performance by other parties.
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Foreign Exchange Sensitivity

Due to the global nature of our operations, we are subject to risks associated with transactions that are denominated in
currencies other than the United States dollar, as well as the effects of translating amounts denominated in foreign
currencies to United States dollars as a normal part of the reporting process.  The objective of our foreign currency
risk management activities is to reduce foreign currency risk in the consolidated financial statements.  In order to
manage foreign currency risks, we make limited use of foreign currency forward contracts and other foreign currency
related derivative instruments.  Although we cannot eliminate all aspects of our foreign currency risk, we believe that
our strategy, which includes the use of derivative instruments, can reduce the impacts of foreign currency related
issues on our consolidated financial statements.  The following is a description of our use of foreign currency
derivative instruments.

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts – During the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, we utilized
foreign currency forward contracts to manage the volatility of certain intercompany financing transactions and other
transactions that are denominated in foreign currencies.  Because these contracts do not meet specific hedge
accounting requirements, gains and losses on these contracts, which expire on a quarterly basis, are recognized
currently and are used to offset a portion of the gains or losses of the related accounts.  The gains and losses on these
contracts were recorded as a component of SG&A expense in our consolidated income statements and had the
following net impact on the periods indicated (in thousands):

YEAR
ENDED
AUGUST
31, 2008 2007 2006

Losses on
foreign
exchange
    contracts $ (487) $ (249) $ (346)
Gains on
foreign
exchange
    contracts 36 119 415
Net gain
(loss) on
foreign

exchange
contracts $ (451) $ (130) $ 69

At August 31, 2008, the fair value of these contracts, which was determined using the estimated amount at which
contracts could be settled based upon forward market exchange rates, approximated the notional amounts of the
contracts due to the proximity of the end of the contract to our fiscal year end on August 31, 2008.  The notional
amounts of our foreign currency sell contracts that did not qualify for hedge accounting were as follows at August 31,
2008 (in thousands):

Notional
Amount

in

Notional
Amount
in U.S.
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Foreign
Currency

Dollars

British
Pounds 450 $ 809
Japanese
Yen 27,000 254
Australian
Dollars 125 117

Interest Rate Sensitivity

The Company is exposed to fluctuations in interest rates primarily due to our line of credit borrowings and long-term
mortgage obligation in Canada.  At August 31, 2008, our debt obligations consisted primarily of a long-term lease
agreement (financing obligation) associated with the sale of our corporate headquarters facility, a variable-rate line of
credit arrangement, and a variable rate long-term mortgage on certain of our buildings and property in Canada.  The
addition of the variable-rate line of credit in fiscal 2007 increased our interest rate sensitivity and in the future our
overall interest rate sensitivity will be influenced by the amounts borrowed on the line of credit and the prevailing
interest rates, which may create additional expense if interest rates increase in future periods.  The financing
obligation has a payment structure equivalent to a long-term leasing arrangement with a fixed interest rate of 7.7
percent.

47

Edgar Filing: FRANKLIN COVEY CO - Form 10-K

86



Table of Contents

The line of credit had a weighted average interest rate of 6.6 percent at August 31, 2007 and our variable-rate
mortgage has interest charged at the Canadian Prime Rate (4.8 percent at August 31, 2008) and requires payments
through January 2015.  At borrowing levels following the payment of the $28.2 million tender offer obligation, a one
percent increase to the interest rates on our variable rate line of credit and mortgage obligation would increase our
interest expense over the next year by approximately $0.2 million.

During the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, we were not party to any interest rate swap
agreements or similar derivative instruments.
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ITEM 8.    Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Franklin Covey Co.:

We have audited Franklin Covey Co.’s internal control over financial reporting as of August 31, 2008, based on criteria
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO).  Franklin Covey Co.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.  Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States).  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.  Our audit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed
risk.  Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.  We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles.  A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements.  Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies
or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Franklin Covey Co. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of August 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated balance sheets of Franklin Covey Co. and subsidiaries as of August 31, 2008 and 2007, and
the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for
each of the years in the three-year period ended August 31, 2008, and our report dated November 14, 2008 expressed
an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Franklin Covey Co.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Franklin Covey Co. and subsidiaries as of August
31, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, stockholders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended August 31, 2008.  These consolidated
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States).  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation.  We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Franklin Covey Co. and subsidiaries as of August 31, 2008 and 2007, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended August 31, 2008, in conformity
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), Franklin Covey Co.’s internal control over financial reporting as of August 31, 2008, based on criteria
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated November 14, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

KPMG LLP

Salt Lake City, UT
November 14, 2008
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FRANKLIN COVEY CO.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

AUGUST 31, 2008 2007
In thousands, except per share data

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 15,904 $ 6,126
Accounts receivable, less allowance for
doubtful accounts of $1,066 and $821 28,019 27,239
Inventories 8,742 24,033
Deferred income taxes 2,472 3,635
Receivable from equity method investee 7,672 -
Prepaid expenses and other assets 5,102 9,070
Total current assets 67,911 70,103

Property and equipment, net 26,928 36,063
Intangible assets, net 72,320 75,923
Other long-term assets 11,768 14,542

$ 178,927 $ 196,631

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’
EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt and
financing obligation $ 670 $ 629
Line of credit - 15,999
Accounts payable 8,713 12,190
Income taxes payable 1,057 2,244
Tender offer obligation 28,222 -
Accrued liabilities 23,419 30,101
Total current liabilities 62,081 61,163

Long-term debt and financing obligation,
less current portion 32,291 32,965
Other liabilities 1,229 1,019
Deferred income tax liabilities 4,572 565
Total liabilities 100,173 95,712

Commitments and contingencies (Notes
1, 8, 9, and 12)

Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock, $.05 par value; 40,000
shares authorized, 27,056 shares issued 1,353 1,353
Additional paid-in capital 184,313 185,890
Common stock warrants 7,597 7,602
Retained earnings 25,337 19,489
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Accumulated other comprehensive
income 1,058 970
Treasury stock at cost, 10,203 shares and
7,296 shares (140,904) (114,385)
Total shareholders’ equity 78,754 100,919

$ 178,927 $ 196,631

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FRANKLIN COVEY CO.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2008 2007 2006
In thousands, except per share amounts

Net sales:
Training and consulting services $ 138,112 $ 137,708 $ 122,418
Products 121,980 146,417 156,205

260,092 284,125 278,623

Cost of sales:
Training and consulting services 44,738 43,132 40,722
Products 53,565 65,915 69,940

98,303 109,047 110,662

Gross profit 161,789 175,078 167,961

Selling, general, and administrative 141,318 149,220 144,747
Gain on sale of consumer solutions business
unit (9,131) - -
Gain on sale of manufacturing facility - (1,227) -
Restructuring costs 2,064 - -
Impairment of assets 1,483 - -
Depreciation 5,692 5,394 5,355
Amortization 3,603 3,607 3,813
Income from operations 16,760 18,084 14,046

Interest income 157 717 1,334
Interest expense (3,083) (3,136) (2,622)
Recovery from legal settlement - - 873
Income before income taxes 13,834 15,665 13,631

Income tax benefit (provision) (7,986) (8,036) 14,942
Net income 5,848 7,629 28,573
Preferred stock dividends - (2,215) (4,385)
Net income available to common shareholders $ 5,848 $ 5,414 $ 24,188

Net income available to common shareholders
per share:
Basic $ .30 $ .28 $ 1.20
Diluted $ .29 $ .27 $ 1.18

Weighted average number of common shares:
Basic 19,577 19,593 20,134
Diluted 19,922 19,888 20,516

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Net income $ 5,848 $ 7,629 $ 28,573
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Foreign currency translation adjustments 88 458 97
Comprehensive income $ 5,936 $ 8,087 $ 28,670

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FRANKLIN COVEY CO.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2008 2007 2006
In thousands
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Net income $ 5,848 $ 7,629 $ 28,573
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net
cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 9,533 10,030 10,289
Gain on sale of consumer solutions business
unit assets (9,131) - -
Deferred income taxes 4,152 5,274 (15,435)
Share-based compensation cost (benefit) (259) 1,394 843
Loss (gain) on disposals of assets 460 (1,247) -
Restructuring charges 2,064 - -
Impairment of assets 1,483 - -
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Increase in accounts receivable, net (7,204) (3,574) (1,919)
Decrease (increase) in inventories 2,853 (2,427) (845)
Increase in receivable from investment in
equity method investee (7,672) - -
Decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets 7,109 514 1,458
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued
liabilities (1,512) (4,388) (3,697)
Increase (decrease) in income taxes payable 255 304 (2,081)
Increase (decrease) in other long-term
liabilities (151) (151) (177)
Net cash provided by operating activities 7,828 13,358 17,009

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from the sale of consumer solutions
business unit assets, net 28,241 - -
Purchases of property and equipment (4,164) (9,138) (4,350)
Capitalized curriculum development costs (4,042) (5,088) (4,010)
Investment in equity method investee (2,755) - -
Proceeds from disposal of consolidated
subsidiaries 1,180 150 -
Proceeds from sales of property and
equipment, net 60 2,596 93
Net cash provided by (used for) investing
activities 18,520 (11,480) (8,267)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from line of credit borrowing 69,708 50,951 -
Payments on line of credit borrowings (85,707) (34,952) -
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Redemptions of Series A preferred stock - (37,345) (20,000)
Change in restricted cash - - 699
Principal payments on long-term debt and
financing obligation (622) (605) (1,111)
Purchases of common stock for treasury - (2,625) (5,167)
Proceeds from sales of common stock from
treasury 462 388 427
Proceeds from management stock loan
payments - 27 134
Payment of preferred stock dividends - (2,215) (4,885)
Net cash used for financing activities (16,159) (26,376) (29,903)
Effect of foreign currency exchange rates on
cash and cash equivalents (411) 37 58
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents 9,778 (24,461) (21,103)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the
year 6,126 30,587 51,690
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year $ 15,904 $ 6,126 $ 30,587

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow
information:
Cash paid for income taxes $ 3,549 $ 2,370 $ 2,615
Cash paid for interest 3,146 2,973 2,662
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Acquisition of treasury stock from tender offer
through liabilities $ 28,222 $ - $ -
Accrued preferred stock dividends - - 934
Promissory notes received from sales of
consolidated subsidiaries - 1,513 -
Purchases of property and equipment financed
by accounts payable 314 895 -

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FRANKLIN COVEY CO.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Series
A

Preferred
Stock
Shares

Series A
Preferred
Stock
Amount

Common
Stock
Shares

Common
Stock
Amount

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Common
Stock

Warrants

Retained
Earnings

(Accumulated
Deficit)

Deferred
Compensa-tion

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income

Treasury
Stock
Shares

Treasury
Stock
Amount

In thousands
Balance at
August 31,
2005 2,294 $ 57,345 27,056 $ 1,353 $ 190,760 $ 7,611 $ (14,498) $ (1,055) $ 556 (6,465) $ (109,246)
Preferred stock
dividends (4,385)
Preferred stock
redemptions (800) (20,000)
Issuance of
common stock
from treasury (334) 69 743
Purchase of
treasury shares (690) (5,167)
Unvested share
award (458) 27 458
Share-based
compensation 862
Reclassification
of deferred
compensation
upon adoption
of SFAS 123R (1,055) 1,055
Receipt of
common stock
as
consideration
for payment on
management
common stock
loans     301 (24) (167)
Cumulative
translation
adjustments 97
Net income 28,573
Balance at
August 31,
2006 1,494 $ 37,345 27,056 $ 1,353 $ 185,691 $ 7,611 $ 14,075 $ - $ 653 (7,083) $ (113,379)
Preferred stock
dividends (2,215)
Preferred stock
redemptions (1,494) (37,345)

(708) 100 1,096
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Issuance of
common stock
from treasury
Purchase of
treasury shares (345) (2,603)
Unvested share
award (501) 32 501
Share-based
compensation 1,394
Payments on
management
common stock
loans 27
Cumulative
translation
adjustments 458
Common stock
warrant activity (13) (9)
Sale of Brazil
subsidiary (141)
Net income 7,629
Balance at
August 31,
2007 - $ - 27,056 $ 1,353 $ 185,890 $ 7,602 $ 19,489 $ - $ 970 (7,296) $ (114,385)
Issuance of
common stock
from treasury (746) 96 1,234
Purchase of
treasury shares (12) (103)
Treasury shares
acquired
through tender
offer (3,027) (28,222)
Unvested share
award (572) 36 572
Share-based
compensation (259)
Cumulative
translation
adjustments 88
Common stock
warrant activity (5)
Net income 5,848
Balance at
August 31,
2008 -  $ - 27,056 $ 1,353 $ 184,313 $ 7,597 $ 25,337  $ - $ 1,058 (10,203) $ (140,904)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FRANKLIN COVEY CO.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.  NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Franklin Covey Co. (hereafter referred to as us, we, our, or the Company) believes that great organizations consist of
great people who form great teams that produce great results.  To enable organizations and individuals to achieve
great results, we provide integrated consulting, training, and performance solutions focused on leadership, strategy
execution, productivity, sales force effectiveness, effective communication, and other areas.  Our services and
products have historically been available through professional consulting services, public workshops, retail stores,
catalogs, and the Internet at www.franklincovey.com and our best-known offerings in the marketplace have included
the FranklinCovey Planner™, and a suite of individual-effectiveness and leadership-development training products
based on the best-selling book, The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, we completed the sale of substantially all of the assets of our Consumer
Solutions Business Unit (CSBU) to a newly formed entity, Franklin Covey Products, LLC (Note 2).  The CSBU was
primarily responsible for the sale of our products, including the FranklinCovey Planner™, to consumers through retail
stores, catalogs, and our Internet site.  Following the sale of the CSBU, our business primarily consists of training,
consulting, and assessment services and products to help organizations achieve superior results by focusing on and
executing on top priorities, building the capability of knowledge workers, and aligning business processes.  Our
training, consulting, and assessment offerings include services based upon the popular workshop The 7 Habits of
Highly Effective People; Leadership: Great Leaders—Great  Teams—Great Results™; The 4 Disciplines of Execution™;
FOCUS: Achieving Your Highest Priorities; The 8 Habits of a Successful Marriage; Building Business Acumen;
Championing Diversity; Leading at the Speed of Trust; Writing Advantage, and Presentation Advantage.  During
fiscal 2008, we introduced a new suite of services designed to help our clients improve their sales through increased
customer loyalty.  We also consistently seek to create, develop, and introduce new services and products that will help
our clients achieve greatness.

Fiscal Year

The Company utilizes a modified 52/53-week fiscal year that ends on August 31 of each year.  Corresponding
quarterly periods generally consist of 13-week periods that ended on December 1, 2007, March 1, 2008, and May 31,
2008 during fiscal 2008.  Unless otherwise noted, references to fiscal years apply to the 12 months ended August 31
of the specified year.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and our subsidiaries, which
consisted of Franklin Covey Printing, Franklin Development Corp., and our wholly-owned operations in Canada,
Japan, the United Kingdom, Australia, and Mexico (product sales) during fiscal 2008.  Intercompany balances and
transactions are eliminated in consolidation.

Pervasiveness of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial
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statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods.  Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period financial statements to conform to the current period
presentation.  These reclassifications included a change in the classification of building depreciation costs related to
subleased office space from product cost of sales to depreciation expense.  The depreciation expense reclassified from
product cost of sales totaled $0.7 million and $0.6 million for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider highly liquid investments with insignificant interest rate risk and original maturities to the Company of
three months or less to be cash equivalents.  We did not hold a significant amount of investments that would be
considered cash equivalent instruments at August 31, 2008 or 2007.

As of August 31, 2008, we had demand deposits at various banks in excess of the $250,000 limit for insurance by the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC).  Subsequent to August 31, 2008 we utilized substantially all of our
available cash to pay the $28.2 million tender offer obligation.

Trade Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest.  The allowance for doubtful
accounts represents our best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in the existing accounts receivable
balance.  We determine the allowance for doubtful accounts based upon historical write-off experience and current
economic conditions and review the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts on a regular basis.  Receivable
balances past due over 90 days, which exceed a specified dollar amount, are reviewed individually for
collectibility.  Account balances are charged off against the allowance after all means of collection have been
exhausted and the potential for recovery is considered remote.  We do not have any off-balance sheet credit exposure
related to our customers.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market, cost being determined using the first-in, first-out
method.  Elements of cost in inventories generally include raw materials, direct labor, and overhead.  Cash flows from
the sales of inventory are included in cash flows provided by operating activities in our consolidated cash flows
statements.  Following the sale of our Consumer Solutions Business Unit in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, our
inventories are comprised primarily of training materials, books, and related accessories and were comprised of the
following (in thousands):

AUGUST
31, 2008 2007
Finished
goods $ 8,329 $ 20,268
Work in
process - 743
Raw
materials 413 3,022
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$ 8,742 $ 24,033

Provision is made to reduce excess and obsolete inventories to their estimated net realizable value.  At August 31,
2008 and 2007, our reserves for excess and obsolete inventories totaled $1.1 million and $4.3 million.  In assessing the
realization of inventories, we make judgments regarding future demand requirements and compare these estimates
with current and committed inventory levels.  Inventory requirements may change based on projected customer
demand, training curriculum life-cycle changes, longer- or shorter-than-expected usage periods, and other factors that
could affect the valuation of our inventories.
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost.  Depreciation expense, which includes depreciation on our corporate
campus that is accounted for as a financing obligation (Note 3) and the amortization of assets recorded under capital
lease obligations, is calculated using the straight-line method over the expected useful life of the asset.  The Company
generally uses the following depreciable lives for our major classifications of property and equipment:

Description Useful
Lives

Buildings 15-39
years

Machinery and
equipment

3-7
years

Computer
hardware and
software

3
years

Furniture,
fixtures, and
leasehold
improvements

5-8
years

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of the useful economic life of the asset or the contracted lease
period.  We expense costs for repairs and maintenance as incurred.  Gains and losses resulting from the sale of
property and equipment are recorded in current operations.

Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

Intangible assets that are deemed to have an indefinite life are not amortized, but rather are tested for impairment on
an annual basis, or more often if events or circumstances indicate that a potential impairment exists.  The Covey trade
name intangible asset (Note 4) has been deemed to have an indefinite life.  This intangible asset is assigned to the
Organizational Solutions Business Unit and is tested for impairment using the present value of estimated royalties on
trade name related revenues, which consist primarily of training seminars and work sessions, international licensee
sales, and related products.  No impairment charge to the Covey trade name was recorded during the fiscal years
ended August 31, 2008, 2007, or 2006.

Capitalized Curriculum Development Costs and Impairment of Assets

During the normal course of business, we develop training courses and related materials that we sell to our
customers.  Capitalized curriculum development costs include certain expenditures to develop course materials such
as video segments, course manuals, and other related materials.  Generally, curriculum costs are capitalized when a
new offering is developed or when there is a major revision to an existing course that requires a significant re-write of
the course materials or curriculum.  Costs incurred to maintain existing offerings are expensed when incurred.  In
addition, development costs incurred in the research and development of new curriculum and software products to be
sold, leased, or otherwise marketed are expensed as incurred until technological feasibility has been established in
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 86, Accounting for the Costs of Computer
Software to be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed, and Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue 96-6, Accounting
for the Film and Software Costs Associated with Developing Entertainment and Educational Software Products.
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During fiscal 2008, we capitalized certain costs incurred for the development of a new customer loyalty offering,
leadership offerings, including The Speed of Trust and The Leader in Me, as well as other courses.  Capitalized
development costs are generally amortized over a five-year life, which is based on numerous factors, including
expected cycles of major changes to curriculum.  Capitalized curriculum development costs are reported as a
component of other long-term assets in our consolidated balance sheets and totaled $6.8 million and $8.6 million at
August 31, 2008 and 2007.  Amortization of capitalized curriculum development costs is reported as a component of
cost of sales.

In fiscal 2008 we analyzed the expected future revenues and corresponding cash flows expected to be generated from
our The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People interactive program and concluded that the expected future revenues, less
direct selling and maintenance costs, were insufficient to cover the
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carrying value of the corresponding capitalized development costs.  Accordingly, we recorded a $1.5 million
impairment charge in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 to write the carrying value of this program down to its net
realizable value.

Restricted Investments

The Company’s restricted investments consist of insurance contracts and investments in mutual funds that are held in a
“rabbi trust” and are restricted for payment to the participants of our deferred compensation plan (Note 16).  We account
for our restricted investments in accordance with SFAS No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and
Equity Securities.  As required by SFAS No. 115, the Company determines the proper classification of its investments
at the time of purchase and reassesses such designations at each balance sheet date.  For the periods presented in this
report, our restricted investments were classified as trading securities and consisted of insurance contracts and mutual
funds.  The fair value of these restricted investments totaled $0.5 million and $0.7 million at August 31, 2008 and
2007, and were recorded as components of other long-term assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

In accordance with SFAS No. 115, our unrealized losses on restricted investments, which were immaterial during
fiscal years 2008, 2007, and 2006, were recognized in the accompanying consolidated income statements as a
component of selling, general, and administrative expense.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived tangible assets and definite-lived intangible assets are reviewed for possible impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable.  We use an
estimate of undiscounted future net cash flows of the assets over the remaining useful lives in determining whether the
carrying value of the assets is recoverable.  If the carrying values of the assets exceed the anticipated future cash flows
of the assets, we recognize an impairment loss equal to the difference between the carrying values of the assets and
their estimated fair values.  Impairment of long-lived assets is assessed at the lowest levels for which there are
identifiable cash flows that are independent from other groups of assets.  The evaluation of long-lived assets requires
us to use estimates of future cash flows.  If forecasts and assumptions used to support the realizability of our
long-lived tangible and definite-lived intangible assets change in the future, significant impairment charges could
result that would adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

Accrued Liabilities

Significant components of our accrued liabilities were as follows (in thousands):

AUGUST 31, 2008 2007
Unearned
revenue $ 4,564  $ 4,709
Outsourcing
contract costs
payable 4,446 4,357
Accrued
compensation 4,152 6,807
Customer
credits 2,191 2,570
Restructuring
costs 2,055 -

6,011 11,658

Edgar Filing: FRANKLIN COVEY CO - Form 10-K

105



Other accrued
liabilities

$ 23,419 $ 30,101

Restructuring Costs

Following the sale of our CSBU in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, we initiated a restructuring plan that reduces the
number of our domestic regional sales offices, decentralizes certain sales support functions, and significantly changes
the operations of our Canadian subsidiary.  The restructuring plan is intended to strengthen the remaining domestic
sales offices and reduce our overall operating costs.  During fiscal 2008 we expensed $2.1 million for anticipated
severance costs necessary to complete the restructuring

58

Edgar Filing: FRANKLIN COVEY CO - Form 10-K

106



Table of Contents

plan, of which $2.1 million was recorded as a component of accrued liabilities at August 31, 2008.  The composition
and utilization of the accrued restructuring charge was as follows at August 31, 2008 (in thousands):

Description

Accrued
Restructuring

Costs
Balance at
August 31,
2007 $ -
Restructuring
charges 2,064
Amounts
utilized –
employee
severance (9)
Balance at
August 31,
2008 $ 2,055

We intend to complete the majority of the restructuring plan activities during the year ending August 31, 2009.

Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions

The functional currencies of the Company’s foreign operations are the reported local currencies.  Translation
adjustments result from translating our foreign subsidiaries’ financial statements into United States dollars.  The
balance sheet accounts of our foreign subsidiaries are translated into United States dollars using the exchange rate in
effect at the balance sheet date.  Revenues and expenses are translated using average exchange rates for each month
during the fiscal year.  The resulting translation gains or losses were recorded as a component of accumulated other
comprehensive income in shareholders’ equity.  Foreign currency transaction losses totaled $0.1 million during each of
the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, and were reported as a component of our selling, general, and
administrative expenses.

Derivative Instruments

Derivative instruments are accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities as modified by SFAS No. 138, Accounting for Certain Derivative and Certain Hedging
Activities, and SFAS No. 149, Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities.  During the normal course of business, we are exposed to risks associated with foreign currency exchange
rate and interest rate fluctuations.  Foreign currency exchange rate exposures result from the Company’s operating
results, assets, and liabilities that are denominated in currencies other than the United States dollar.  In order to limit
our exposure to these elements, we have made limited use of derivative instruments.  Each derivative instrument that
is designated as a hedge instrument is recorded on the balance sheet at its fair value.  Changes in the fair value of
derivative instruments that qualify for hedge accounting are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income,
which is a component of shareholders’ equity.  Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments that are not
designated as hedge instruments are immediately recognized as a component of selling, general, and administrative
expense in our consolidated income statements.  At August 31, 2008 we were not party to any financial instruments
that qualified for hedge accounting.

Sales Taxes
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We collect sales tax on qualifying transactions with customers based upon applicable sales tax rates in various
jurisdictions.  The Company accounts for its sales taxes collected using the net method as defined by EITF Issue No.
06-03, How Taxes Collected from Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the
Income Statement (That Is, Gross versus Net Presentation) and accordingly, we do not include sales taxes in net sales
reported in our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue in accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 101, Revenue Recognition in
Financial Statements, as amended by SAB No. 104, Revenue Recognition.  Accordingly,
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we recognize revenue when: 1) persuasive evidence of an agreement exists, 2) delivery of product has occurred or
services have been rendered, 3) the price to the customer is fixed or determinable, and 4) collectibility is reasonably
assured.  For training and service sales, these conditions are generally met upon presentation of the training seminar or
delivery of the consulting services.  For product sales, these conditions are generally met upon shipment of the
product to the customer or by completion of the sales transaction in a retail store.

Some of our training and consulting contracts contain multiple deliverable elements that include training along with
other products and services.  For transactions that contain more than one element, we recognize revenue in accordance
with EITF Issue No. 00-21, Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.  When fair value
exists for all contracted elements, the overall contract consideration is allocated among the separate units of
accounting based upon their relative fair values.  Revenue for these units is recognized in accordance with our general
revenue policies once it has been determined that the delivered items have standalone value to the customer.  If fair
value does not exist for all contracted elements, revenue for the delivered items is recognized using the residual
method, which generally means that revenue recognition is postponed until the point is reached when the delivered
items have standalone value and fair value exists for the undelivered items.  Under the residual method, the amount of
revenue considered for recognition under our general revenue policies is the total contract amount, less the aggregate
fair value of the undelivered items.  Fair value of the undelivered items is based upon the normal pricing practices for
our existing training programs, consulting services, and other products, which are generally the prices of the items
when sold separately.

Our international strategy includes the use of licensees in countries where we do not have a wholly-owned
operation.  Licensee companies are unrelated entities that have been granted a license to translate our content and
curriculum, adapt the content and curriculum to the local culture, and sell our training seminars and products in a
specific country or region.  Licensees are required to pay us royalties based upon a percentage of their sales to
clients.  We recognize royalty income each period based upon the sales information reported to us from our
licensees.  Licensee royalty revenues are included as a component of training sales and totaled $10.1 million, $7.6
million, and $6.1 million, for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006.

Revenue is recognized on software sales in accordance with Statement of Position (SOP) 97-2, Software Revenue
Recognition as amended by SOP 98-09.  Statement 97-2, as amended, generally requires revenue earned on software
arrangements involving multiple elements such as software products and support to be allocated to each element based
on the relative fair value of the elements based on vendor specific objective evidence (VSOE).  Nearly all of the
Company’s software sales consist of ready to use “off-the-shelf” software products that have multiple elements,
including a license and post contract customer support (PCS).  Currently we do not have VSOE for either the license
or support elements of our software sales.  Accordingly, revenue is deferred until the only undelivered element is PCS
and the total arrangement fee is recognized over the support period.  During fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006, we had
software sales totaling $2.5 million, $3.2 million, and $3.3 million, which are included as a component of product
sales in our consolidated income statements.

Revenue is recognized as the net amount to be received after deducting estimated amounts for discounts and product
returns.

Share-Based Compensation

We account for our share-based compensation costs according to the provisions of SFAS No. 123 (Revised 2004)
Share-Based Payment (SFAS No. 123R), which is a revision of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation.  In general, SFAS No. 123R requires all share based-payments to employees and non-employees,
including grants of stock options and the compensatory elements of employee stock purchase plans, to be recognized
in the income statement based upon their fair values.
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For more information on our share-based compensation plans, refer to Note 13.
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Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs

All shipping and handling fees billed to customers are recorded as a component of net sales.  All costs incurred related
to the shipping and handling of products are recorded in cost of sales.

Advertising Costs

Costs for newspaper, television, radio, and other advertising are expensed as incurred or recognized over the period of
expected benefit for direct response and catalog advertising.  Direct response advertising costs, which consist
primarily of printing and mailing costs for catalogs and seminar mailers, are charged to expense over the period of
projected benefit, which ranges from three to 12 months.  Advertising costs included in selling, general, and
administrative expenses totaled $15.5 million, $15.9 million, and $16.0 million, for the fiscal years ended August 31,
2008, 2007, and 2006.  Our direct response advertising costs reported in other current assets totaled $0.5 million and
$2.2 million at August 31, 2008 and 2007.

Research and Development Costs

We expense research and development costs as incurred.  During the fiscal years ended August 31, 2008, 2007, and
2006, we expensed $4.6 million, $3.3 million, and $2.3 million of research and development costs that were recorded
as components of cost of sales and selling, general, and administrative expenses in our consolidated income
statements.

Income Taxes

Our income tax provision has been determined using the asset and liability approach of accounting for income
taxes.  Under this approach, deferred income taxes represent the future tax consequences expected to occur when the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities are recovered or paid.  The income tax provision represents income taxes
paid or payable for the current year plus the change in deferred taxes during the year.  Deferred income taxes result
from differences between the financial and tax bases of our assets and liabilities and are adjusted for tax rates and tax
laws when changes are enacted.  A valuation allowance is provided against deferred income tax assets when it is more
likely than not that all or some portion of the deferred income tax assets will not be realized.  We adopted the
provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes – an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (FIN 48), on September 1, 2007.  Following the adoption
of FIN 48, interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions are recognized as components of income tax
expense.

The Company provides for income taxes, net of applicable foreign tax credits, on temporary differences in our
investment in foreign subsidiaries, which consist primarily of unrepatriated earnings.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income includes changes to equity accounts that were not the result of transactions with
shareholders.  Comprehensive income is comprised of net income or loss and other comprehensive income and loss
items.  Our comprehensive income and losses generally consist of changes in the cumulative foreign currency
translation adjustment.

Accounting Pronouncements Issued Not Yet Adopted
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Fair Value Measures – In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measures.  This statement
establishes a single authoritative definition of fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair value, and requires
additional disclosures about fair-value measurements.  Statement No. 157 only applies to fair-value measurements that
are already required or permitted by other accounting standards except for measurements of share-based payments and
measurements that are similar to, but not intended
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to be, fair value.  This statement is effective for the specified fair value measures for financial statements issued for
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and will thus be effective for the Company in fiscal 2009.  We have
not yet completed our analysis of the impact of SFAS No. 157 on our financial statements.

Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities – In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159,
The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities including an Amendment of FASB Statement No.
115.  Statement No.159 permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at
fair value.  The provisions of SFAS No. 159 will become effective for the Company in fiscal 2009 and we have not
yet completed our analysis of the impact of SFAS No. 159 on our financial statements.

Business Combinations – In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), Business Combinations
(SFAS No. 141R) and SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements.  These
standards aim to improve, simplify, and converge internationally the accounting for business combinations and the
reporting of noncontrolling interests in consolidated financial statements.  The provisions of SFAS No. 141R and
SFAS No. 160 are effective for our fiscal year beginning September 1, 2009.  We do not currently anticipate that these
statements will have a material impact upon our financial condition or results of operations.

Derivatives Disclosures – In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities.  Statement No. 161 is intended to improve financial reporting about derivative instruments
and hedging activities by requiring enhanced disclosures to enable investors to better understand their effects on an
entity's financial position, financial performance, and cash flows.  The provisions of SFAS No. 161 are effective for
our third quarter of fiscal 2009.  The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the provisions of SFAS No. 161,
but due to our limited use of derivative instruments we do not currently anticipate that the provisions of SFAS No. 161
will have a material impact on our financial statements.

2. SALE OF THE CONSUMER SOLUTIONS BUSINESS UNIT

During fiscal 2008, we joined with Peterson Partners to create a new company, Franklin Covey Products, LLC
(Franklin Covey Products).  This new company purchased substantially all of the assets of our Consumer Solutions
Business Unit (CSBU) with the objective of expanding the worldwide sales of Franklin Covey products as governed
by a comprehensive license agreement between us and Franklin Covey Products.  The CSBU was primarily
responsible for sales of our products to both domestic and international consumers through a variety of channels,
including retail stores, a call center, and the Internet (Note 19).  Franklin Covey Products, which is controlled by
Peterson Partners, purchased the CSBU assets for $32.0 million in cash plus a $1.2 million adjustment for working
capital delivered on the closing date of the sale, which was effective July 6, 2008.  We also incurred $3.7 million of
direct costs related to the sale of the CSBU assets, a portion of which is reimbursable from Franklin Covey
Products.  At August 31, 2008, we have a $3.5 million note receivable for these reimbursable transaction costs and
excess working capital that is due in January 2009.  The note receivable bears interest at Franklin Covey Products’
effective borrowing rate, which was approximately 6.0 percent at August 31, 2008.

On the date of the sale closing, the Company invested approximately $1.8 million to purchase a 19.5 percent voting
interest in Franklin Covey Products, made a $1.0 million priority capital contribution with a 10 percent return, and
will have the opportunity to earn contingent license fees if Franklin Covey Products achieves specified performance
objectives.  We recognized a gain of $9.1 million on the sale of the CSBU assets and according to guidance found in
EITF Issue No. 01-2, Interpretations of APB Opinion No. 29, we deferred a portion of the gain equal to our
investment in Franklin Covey Products.  We will recognize the deferred gain over the life of the long-term assets
acquired by Franklin Covey Products or when cash is received for payment of the priority contribution.
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The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of the CSBU that were sold to Franklin Covey Products were as
follows (in thousands):

Description
Cash and
cash
equivalents $ 38
Accounts
receivable,
net 6,675
Inventories 12,665
Other current
assets 2,291
Property and
equipment,
net 8,435
Other assets 158
Total assets
sold $ 30,262

Accounts
payable $ 3,589
Accrued
liabilities 6,748
Total
liabilities sold $ 10,337

Based upon the guidance found in SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,
EITF Issue No. 03-13, Applying the Conditions in Paragraph 42 of FASB Statement No. 144 in Determining Whether
to Report Discontinued Operations, and SAB 103, Topic 5Z4, Disposal of Operation with Significant Interest
Retained, we determined that the operations of CSBU should not be reported as discontinued operations because we
will continue to have significant influence over the operations of Franklin Covey Products and may participate in
future cash flows.  As a result of this determination, we have not presented the financial results of the CSBU as
discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated financial statements and we do not anticipate discontinued
operations presentation in future interim and annual reporting periods.

As a result of Franklin Covey Products’ structure as a limited liability company with separate owner capital accounts
and the guidance found in EITF Issue No. 03-16, Accounting for Investments in Limited Liability Companies and
SOP 78-9, Accounting for Investments in Real Estate Ventures, we determined that the Company’s investment in
Franklin Covey Products is more than minor and that we are required to account for our investment in Franklin Covey
Products using the equity method of accounting.  We record our share of Franklin Covey Products’ profit and loss
based upon specified allocations as defined in the associated operating agreement.  Our ownership interest may be
diluted in future periods if ownership shares of Franklin Covey Products granted to certain members of its
management vest.

The following unaudited summary financial information for Franklin Covey Products is presented as of and for the
two months ending August 31, 2008 (in thousands):
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Balance
Sheet
Total
assets $ 45,588
Total
liabilities 37,013

Income
Statement
Sales 13,149
Net loss (1,437)

Following the sale of the CSBU assets, we do not have any obligation to fund the losses of Franklin Covey Products
and therefore our portion of the net loss in fiscal 2008 was not recorded in our consolidated income statement.  Under
the terms of the agreements associated with the sale of the CSBU assets, we are entitled to receive reimbursement for
certain operating costs, such as warehousing and distribution costs, which are billed to the Company by third party
providers.  At August 31, 2008 we had a $7.7 million receivable from Franklin Covey Products, which consisted of
$3.5 million of reimbursable costs associated with the sale transaction as described above, and $4.2 million of
reimbursable operating costs.
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3. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Our property and equipment were comprised of the following (in thousands):

AUGUST 31, 2008 2007
Land and
improvements $ 1,626 $ 1,639
Buildings 34,573 34,536
Machinery and
equipment 2,969 29,026
Computer
hardware and
software 20,010 45,623
Furniture,
fixtures, and
leasehold
improvements 9,640 32,579

68,818 143,403
Less
accumulated
depreciation (41,890) (107,340)

$ 26,928 $ 36,063

In addition to the CSBU property and equipment that was sold to Franklin Covey Products during the fourth quarter of
fiscal 2008, we disposed of certain computer hardware and software that was replaced or rendered obsolete during the
year.  Substantially all of this computer hardware and software was fully depreciated at the time of disposal.  In
addition, we also transferred ownership of fully depreciated warehouse equipment to a third party warehouse services
provider (Note 9) as required by the outsourcing contract.

During fiscal 2007, we completed a project to reconfigure our printing operations to improve our printing services’
efficiency, reduce operating costs, and improve our printing services’ flexibility in order to increase external printing
service sales.  Our reconfiguration plan included moving our printing operations a short distance from its existing
location to our corporate headquarters campus and the sale of the manufacturing facility and certain printing
presses.  We completed the sale of the manufacturing facility during the second quarter of fiscal 2007.  The sale price
was $2.5 million and, after deducting customary closing costs, the net proceeds to the Company from the sale totaled
$2.3 million in cash.  The carrying value of the manufacturing facility at the date of sale was $1.1 million and
accordingly, we recognized a $1.2 million gain on the sale of the manufacturing facility.  The manufacturing facility
assets sold were primarily reported as a component of corporate assets for segment reporting purposes.  Due to a
lower-than-expected sale price on one of the printing presses to be sold, we recorded an impairment charge totaling
$0.3 million to reduce the carrying value of the printing press to its anticipated sale price.  The impairment charge was
included as a component of depreciation expense in our consolidated income statement for the fiscal year ended
August 31, 2007.

In connection with the fiscal 2005 sale of our corporate headquarters facility, we entered into a 20-year master lease
agreement with the purchaser, an unrelated private investment group.  The master lease agreement contains six
five-year renewal options, which will allow us to maintain our operations at our current location for up to 50
years.  Although the corporate headquarters facility was formally sold and the Company has no legal ownership of the
property, SFAS No. 98, Accounting for Leases, precluded us from recording the transaction as a sale since we have
subleased more than a minor portion of the property.  Pursuant to this accounting guidance, we have accounted for the
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sale as a financing transaction, which required us to continue reporting the corporate headquarters facility as an asset
and to depreciate the property over the life of the master lease agreement.  We also recorded a financing obligation to
the purchaser (Note 7) for the sale price.  At August 31, 2008, the carrying value of the corporate headquarters facility
was $19.1 million.

Certain land and buildings are collateral for mortgage debt obligations (Note 7).
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4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Our intangible assets were comprised of the following (in thousands):

AUGUST 31, 2008

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying
Amount

Definite-lived
intangible assets:
License rights $ 27,000 $ (9,292) $ 17,708
Curriculum 58,237 (29,896) 28,341
Customer lists 14,684 (11,413) 3,271
Trade names
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